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£1.3 billion turnover and 
providing innovative 
for market leading customers
the world by helping to . . .

2005 results in brief
Total sales

£1,578m
2004  £1,611m

Total profit before tax*

£175.5m
2004  £161.1m

Total adjusted earnings per share**

33.4p
2004  29.5p

Sales (continuing businesses)

£1,341m
2004  £1,239m

Dividend

17.5p
2004  16.5p

Profit before tax (continuing businesses)*

£156.7m
2004  £133.9m

(continuing businesses)**

29.7p
2004  24.2p

Borrowings

£10.6m
2004  £75.7m

Basic earnings per share

3.9p
2004  19.1 p

pioneer beverage 
dispense solutions. . .

and drive impulse
purchase.
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* before intangible amortisation and exceptional items **before change in fair value of financial instruments, intangible amortisation and exceptional items
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2005 has seen IMI continue to build on

the foundations laid over the last few

years. With the sale of Polypipe in

September, all the businesses previously

identified as non-core have now been

sold. This leaves us firmly focused on 

our five continuing businesses in Fluid

Controls and Retail Dispense, our chosen

platforms for profitable growth. The

continued progress we have made in

these businesses is demonstrated  by

another year of improved performance

with organic sales growth of around 5%,

operating profit increased by 16%,

operating margins increased to nearly

12% and continued strong operational

cash generation. Corporate activity during

the year also saw expenditure of £64m on

acquisitions and £73m on the on-market

share buy-back programme.

With businesses capable of regularly

achieving healthy cash conversion and 

a very sound balance sheet we have

considerable scope to make organic and

acquisition investment to help promote

further growth. With this in mind, the

Board has sanctioned an acceleration of

some further restructuring within existing

businesses and strengthened the Group’s

merger and acquisition resource. The

acquisition of Truflo, announced on 

6 March 2006, is a welcome addition to

our Fluid Controls business. The on-market

buy-back programme introduced in 2005

will continue to be used as a flexible tool

in our balance sheet management.

The Board continues to recognise the

importance of dividend income to

shareholders and we are recommending

the final dividend be increased by 6.4%

from 10.2p to 10.85p. This makes the

total dividend for the year 17.5p, an

increase of 6.1% over the 16.5p paid in

respect of 2004.

Results summary

Following the sale of Polypipe, the results

have been analysed between continuing

and discontinued operations.

Sales from continuing businesses at

£1,341m (2004: £1,239m) were 8% ahead 

of last year including £35m (3%) from

acquisitions. Operating profit from

continuing businesses before intangible

amortisation was £159.5m (2004:

£137.2m), 16.3% ahead, including £4.6m

(3%) from acquisitions.

Discontinued businesses comprise the

eight months trading of the Polypipe

businesses up to the date of sale on 

2 September 2005. 2004 also includes the

Doors and Windows division of Polypipe

which was closed prior to the disposal.

Sales for the period at £237m and

operating profit at £18.8m compared to

£372m and £27.2m respectively, for the 

full year 2004.

Total operating profit before intangible

amortisation and exceptional items was

£178.3m (2004: £164.4m), an increase of

8.5%.

Interest costs on net borrowings were

£8.2m, a cover of 22 times. Including the

impact of pension fund financing under

IAS19 and the change in fair value of

financial instruments under IAS39, net

financing costs were £2.8m (2004: £3.3m).

Profit before tax, intangible amortisation

and exceptional items is £175.5m (2004:

£161.1m), an increase of 8.9%. After

intangible amortisation, profit before tax

and exceptional items is £169.9m (2004:

£155.3m) an increase of 9.4%.

The effective tax rate for the year on profit

before intangible amortisation and

exceptional items is 32% compared to

33% in 2004.

Adjusted earnings per share (excluding the

change in fair value of financial instruments,

intangible amortisation and exceptional

items) is 33.4p (2004: 29.5p) an increase of

13.2%. Adjusted earnings per share from

continuing businesses only was 29.7p (2004:

24.2p) an increase of 22.7%.

Exceptional items

The net exceptional loss arising from the

sale of Polypipe and closure of the Doors

and Windows division was £99.3m including

acquired goodwill. This loss includes a

discount of £3.1m from par value on the

vendor loan, the proceeds from which were

received in February 2006. The impact of

this exceptional loss has been to reduce

basic earnings per share by 28.4p, resulting

in a basic earnings per share of 3.9p

compared to 19.1p in 2004.

Cash flow

Operating cash flow in continuing

businesses was £167m, 105% of operating

profit (before intangible amortisation).

Corporate activity comprising disposals,

acquisitions and share buy-back amounted

to a £73m inflow. After paying dividends

and the additional pension scheme funding

contribution, and absorbing £31m in

respect of the European Commission fine,

cash inflow for the year was £77m.

Balance sheet

The pension fund deficits under IAS19

increased by £30m during the year largely

as a result of revised mortality assumptions

in the main UK fund. The actuarial valuation

of the UK fund as at 31 March 2005 revealed

a funding deficit of £51m which is being

eliminated by annual payments of around

£16m starting in December 2005 and

continuing over the next three years.

Closing net debt was £10.6m (2004: £75.7m).

‘we have considerable scope to   
organic and acquisition   
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IMI People

Across the Group, IMI’s people continued to

make a great contribution and I am

delighted with the success they have

achieved during the year. As the next phase

in IMI’s development unfolds, I am sure we

will again get their full engagement and

focus on our plans for profitable growth.

In May 2005, my predecessor Jim Leng

retired from the Board. We appreciate Jim’s

role in the development of the Board and

wish him all the best in his continuing career.

With Anita Frew’s appointment as a non-

executive in March 2006 adding to that of

Lance Browne in January 2005 and Kevin

Beeston in March 2005, we now have a

full non-executive team with highly

complementary skills and backgrounds.

This team has worked with the executive

directors on the next stage of our strategic

development which is outlined by Martin

Lamb in his Chief Executive’s report. I look

forward to working with the Board on this

strategy over the coming years.

Outlook

Momentum in the US and Asia appears still

to be positive and although we remain

cautious about the macro-economic outlook

for the UK and Europe, there are some signs

that confidence is improving. With a healthy

order book across our businesses we  expect

the steady progress in both Fluid Controls

and Retail Dispense to continue.

  make 
  investment’

3IMI plc Annual Report 2005

Norman B M Askew Chairman

6 March 2006



The disposal of Polypipe in September

effectively brings to a close the portfolio

repositioning of IMI announced in 2001.

With five businesses, each with leading

market positions in clearly identified

global niches, the new IMI can look

forward with confidence to further growth

and margin improvement. The ability to

capture market insight, and to convert

that into practical, innovative and

customised engineering solutions for our

targeted customers is the common theme

across all our businesses, and is central to

delivering against our growth and margin

ambitions. One example of such creativity

in 2005 was the launch of a new

pneumatic suspension system for Land

Rover’s Discovery and Range Rover

models, providing a breakthrough in off-

road comfort, and delivering a real point

of difference to Land Rover in the ever

competitive automotive sector.

Across the businesses we see potential to

develop further our growth and margin

improvement. End market trends are

largely positive, our market positions are

strengthening, and we have a growing

reputation for successful innovation with

an increasing number of global, blue chip

clients. Our focus now is to accelerate

investment in new product development

and key account management, with a

particular focus on improving the quality

of our people through both internal

development and external recruitment.

We also see further opportunities to

improve our efficiencies and reduce our

cost base through expanding our existing

low cost manufacturing capabilities in

Mexico, The Czech Republic and China,

and accelerating our Far East materials

outsourcing programme.

We expect to invest around £20m per 

year for each of the next three years both

in upgrading our people talent and

transferring more of our manufacturing

capacity to already established low cost

facilities, raising the percentage of total

production in these territories from

around 25% today to 40% in three years’

time. We would, in time, expect to

improve operating margins as a result by

150 to 200 basis points.

In addition to this accelerating internal

investment and the continuation of the

share buy-back programme, we are
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2005 proved to be

another positive

year for the Group,

with profit before

tax, intangible

amortisation and

exceptional items at

£175.5m,an all-time

record for IMI.

‘our focus now is to accelerate   
in new product development   

key account management’



confident of spending at least £80-100m

per annum on judicious top quality 

bolt-on acquisitions. The acquisition of

Truflo gets us off to a strong start in 2006.

This combination of internal investment,

bolt-on acquisitions, and share buy-backs

is expected to introduce overall debt of

around £400-500m over the next three

years, a level which we believe to be

wholly consistent with optimising our

balance sheet and enhancing shareholder

returns.

Martin J Lamb Chief Executive

6 March 2006

Chief Executive Martin Lamb with a critical application control valve manufactured in Korea by CCI.
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Another year of strong growth in our Severe Service business

further demonstrates our ability to capture opportunities in the

buoyant power and oil & gas markets. Organic sales growth was

18% with growth in order intake running at a similar level.

New valves continue to drive the majority of the growth with

the power markets in Asia and the oil & gas markets in the

Middle East particularly strong. Although the current focus is 

on new valve opportunities, our after-market customer service

business continues to increase with the rate of growth

improved over last year. In addition, government mandated

maintenance programmes have generated good demand in 

our Nuclear Services business for strainer equipment for nuclear

power stations.

Our presence in Japan and the Asian markets has been

significantly strengthened by the acquisition in November 2005

of the ABB control valves business and the investments in

businesses in Korea and China. With the market outlook

remaining very positive and a strong order backlog,

we are well positioned going into 2006.

IMI plc is the ultimate holding company of the Group and has

been listed on the London Stock Exchange since 1966.

At 31 December 2005 it had a market value of £1.7bn and

shareholders’ funds of £418m. The company’s headquarters is

at Lakeside, Birmingham Business Park, England. IMI Group

trading activities are carried on through subsidiary companies.

Group activities 

The Group activities are organised around two main business

areas. Fluid Controls and Retail Dispense together comprise 

five businesses providing knowledge-based engineering

solutions in clearly defined niche markets.The common goal 

of all five is to deliver innovative and complete solutions for a

highly targeted group of leading global customers.

‘Our focus on targeted market

sectors is enabling the Fluid

Controls businesses to increase

the level of expertise, insight

and innovation available to

customers, giving significant

benefits to both them and us.’

Ian Whiting
President CCI

David Nicholas
Executive Director

‘organic sales growth
was 18% with growth
in order intake running
at a similar level’

severe service
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five platform businesses
engineering solutions in clearly



Our Fluid Power business continued the encouraging progress

seen over the last few years with the momentum being

maintained both in growing sector sales and operational

improvements. Overall organic sales growth was around 4%

despite relatively subdued European end markets. The sector

growth was again led by Global Truck and the acquisition of GT

Development in November strengthens further our product and

market position. The medical and printing and packaging sectors

also showed good growth. Syron, our in-plant automotive tooling

business bought in February 2005 made a good contribution in

its first year. In the general pneumatics market, the US and Asia

Pacific had another positive year. In Europe the markets were

somewhat mixed although recent order trends have been more

encouraging. We have recently launched an innovative European

web based direct sales initiative aimed at improving product

availability and service for a focused group of smaller customers;

results to date have been encouraging.

Operating margins have improved considerably over the last few

years and have now reached 12%. We have identified a number

of initiatives to improve this further and have recently announced

the transfer of more production from our US Littleton operations

to our lower cost facility in Mexico.

Despite low growth and significant new material price inflation,

particularly copper, Indoor Climate produced another resilient

performance. Lower thermostatic radiator valve (TRV) sales in

Germany were offset by improved sales elsewhere, particularly

Eastern Europe. Sales of balancing valves across Europe

improved in the second half to finish overall ahead of last year

and this offers encouragement for 2006. We continue to gain

momentum in our focus on targeted markets and sectors and

have had good success with PFI contracts in the UK, project 

wins in the Middle East and Asia, and further growth in 

Eastern Europe.

We are increasingly looking at using our considerable brand

strength with the launch of some new products which will 

be available in 2006. Indoor Climate remains a highly focused

business with strong brand names and leading market

positions.

In Fluid Controls our businesses share similar technologies to

drive efficiency. Severe Service principally operates in the

power generation and oil & gas markets; Fluid Power provides

essential pneumatic systems for original equipment

manufacturers in markets such as commercial vehicles,

medical, printing and packaging and in-plant automotive;

Indoor Climate services building and facility operators, aiding

energy conservation and personal comfort.

Our Retail Dispense businesses share merchandising know-how

to drive incremental volume for our customers. Beverage

Dispense designs and manufactures still and carbonated

beverage dispense systems to help multinational businesses

sell in draught form their highly branded alcoholic and soft

drinks; Merchandising Systems designs and supplies point of

purchase (PoP) displays to enable brand owners and retailers

to increase sales in retail outlets.

Jim Mannebach
President Norgren

Roy Twite
President 
Indoor Climate

‘operating margins
have improved
considerably  and have
now reached 12%’

‘we are using our
considerable brand
strength with the
launch of new products’

fluid power indoor climate
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analysis of sales

In the US, consumer confidence has in the main remained

positive throughout 2005 with increased restaurant traffic across

the sector. Beverage Dispense in the US has benefited and

produced a strong underlying performance both in the brand

owner and foodservice businesses. We did particularly well

within the convenience and gas category and developed

further our relationship with national accounts including the

recognition earned from YUM! Brands as its “Global Equipment

Supplier of the Year”. Operationally, transfer of manufacturing to

China and Mexico has continued and lower cost procurement

has been driven robustly. Our US beverage parts operation is

gaining momentum and will be strengthened by the acquisition

in November 2005 of Northern Parts. In Europe both the soft

drink and beer markets have been disappointing for most of the

year although recently the trend has improved. In the UK the

second half has seen improving beer equipment sales. We have

now established a manufacturing presence in the Ukraine to

access the growing Ukraine and Russian beer markets. Asia

Pacific continues to offer good potential and growth has again

been strong in 2005. We continue to look at the markets we

serve to develop new products and initiatives which will further

our undoubted leadership position.

The Group serves all the major geographical markets where our

customers are present. In 2005 these are summarised for

continuing businesses in the chart provided here. The Building

Products Group was disposed of in September 2005.

‘Increasingly, our customers

value the outstanding

combination of market

knowledge, deep consumer

insight and engineering

expertise that increases their

retail sales, promotes their

brands and makes a significant

difference to their business

performance.’

Wayne Whitney
Executive Director

‘new products and initiatives
will further our undoubted
leadership position’

beverage dispense
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David Storey
President Cornelius Inc.

Mark Kelly
President Cornelius Europe

Operations review



It was always going to be difficult to maintain the rate of growth

in Merchandising Systems especially in the absence of large

one-off contracts enjoyed in the previous two years.

Nevertheless, there were many successes in 2005.

Display Technologies had an excellent year with a strong

performance in the beverage, packaged and bulk food sectors.

Front-end merchandising and display carts achieved further

growth and we continued to develop in the home

improvement sector. In the cosmetics sector, volumes 

again improved and we also obtained our first significant

commitment from a major US brand owner. In the high growth

consumer electronics sector we secured new business in mobile

telephones and children’s teaching aids. In the automotive

sector, as expected, activity was lower in merchandising for car

showrooms in the US, resulting in lower sales than last year.

However, it is encouraging that in recent months we have

secured over $100m in extensions of existing or new three to

five year contracts within the automotive sector. We continue to

invest in unique research and technology tools to help drive

tangible benefits for our customers.

Rich Krause
President 
Cannon Solutions

‘we continue to invest
in unique research and
technology tools’

merchandising systems

% of sales

9

UK 10 16 12

Rest of 
Europe 51 12 38

US 20 63 35

Other 19 9 15
* before tax, exceptional items and
amortisation 

Fluid
Controls

Retail
Dispense

IMI
Group

Fluid
Controls

65%  
£877m

Retail
Dispense

35%  
£464m

% of Group sales

Fluid
Controls

70%  
£112m

Retail
Dispense

30%  
£47m

% of Group profit*

IMI plc Annual Report 2005



CCI is the world’s leading expert in

providing engineered valve solutions that

enhance performance and reliability in

critical plant applications. All types of

power generation, oil & gas production,

petrochemical, and pulp and paper

facilities rely on our high integrity systems

to control the handling of potentially

dangerous gases and liquids in extreme

physical environments.

CCI’s highly experienced engineers focus

on understanding their customers’

processes and challenges and apply our

advanced technology and industry

expertise to deliver superior, custom

engineered solutions. Together with our

dedicated customer service network,

controlling critical 
processes

op
erating

 and
 financial review

fluid controls
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CCI

Controlling critical in-plant processes by
providing superior custom engineered
severe service or critical service valve,
actuation and silencer solutions.

Power generation; oil & gas production;
combined heat & power (CHP); liquefied
natural gas (LNG) petrochemical and gas
processing.

USA, Switzerland, Sweden, Austria, Italy,
China, Japan and South Korea.

1,400

Key brands

Strategic focus

Main markets

Major operational
locations

Employees

Factfile Severe Service

2004

2005

£177m

£213m

Sales

2004

2005

£22.5m

£28.3m

Operating profit*

2004

2005

12.7%

13.3%

Operating margin

Fluid Controls

“We work closely with Power Machines
to provide technologies that optimise
the performance and output of each
power plant.”
Yuri Serov
Key Account Manager, CCI 

*before intangible amortisation



which delivers support for the life of the

plant, we reduce risk and improve efficiency,

reduce maintenance and operating costs,

and help minimise downtime, enabling our

clients to optimise their operating and

financial performance.

Serving many of the world’s leading

businesses in their fields, CCI’s activities are

split nearly equally between the Americas,

Europe/Africa/Middle East and Asia. Our

acquisition during the year of ABB KK, a

leading provider of valves to the Japanese

power industry, the establishment of a new

joint venture with the Shanghai Power

Corporation in China and the assumption of

full control of our operation in South Korea

further strengthened our capabilities in the

11IMI plc Annual Report 2005

fast growing Asian

economies.

Other emerging

markets such as

Russia and India

provide further

opportunities to add

value to both existing 

and new customers.

Power generation, fuel, and energy

process industries are growing fast

across the globe to satisfy the world’s

increasing need for energy. CCI’s

expertise is integral to this growth and

we expect its solutions to enjoy strong

demand for the foreseeable future.

“CCI’s valves and expertise in critical
applications help us to ensure our
facilities run efficiently and reliably,
supplying the world’s power utilities”
Vladimir Batenko 
Director of Projects 
Power Machines (Russia)



Our motion and fluid controls business,

Norgren, provides sophisticated solutions

which control air and other fluids in

precision technological and engineering

applications.

From the ultra-fine control of medical

dosing valves to the arduous environment

of on-board truck suspension systems,

our immense technical expertise and

experience help our customers in their

highly demanding markets. Although our

products contribute to our customers’

success across a broad range of

manufacturing applications, our targeted

market sectors, including commercial

vehicles, medical, printing and 

packaging, and in-plant automotive, are

demonstrating strong growth.

creating competitive   
in motion and fluid control
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Key brands

Strategic focus

Main markets

Major operational
locations

Employees

Factfile Fluid Power
op
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 and
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Fluid Controls

“Our 40 bar high-pressure technology 
lies at the heart of the PET bottling
stretch/blow moulding process. Integrating
Norgren and FAS technologies is now
enabling us to add further value to Krones
machines.”
Harald Weigand, Key Account Manager,
Norgren

Norgren, Syron.

Engineering advantage in motion and 
fluid control solutions.
Industrial pneumatic applications;
on-board commercial vehicles; medical;
packaging; printing; in-plant automotive;
semi-conductor; rail transportation.

USA, UK, Germany, Switzerland, Mexico 
and The Czech Republic.

6,200

2004

2005

£439m

£492m

Sales

2004

2005

£43.5m

£58.5m

Operating profit*

2004

2005

9.9%

11.9%

Operating margin

*before intangible amortisation



Increasingly intimate relationships with our

customers and their markets give us a sound

understanding of their businesses, their

needs and values, processes, and commercial

and regulatory environments. We use this

knowledge to develop design-led, innovative

and reliable solutions that enable them to

grow their revenues and reduce the total

cost of ownership for the end user.

Two US additions to the Group in 2005

further developed the scope of our services.

Syron enhances our ability to provide

integrated tooling solutions to automotive

manufacturers and GT Development

Corporation, acquired in November,

increases our strength in pneumatic and

electronic controls for the medium and

heavy truck industry.

In Europe this year we launched a new

service, Norgren Express. Providing 

rapid delivery of standard products 

from stock, this improves the servicing 

of our valued smaller customers and

enables us to improve our own stock 

and logistics efficiency.

With operations worldwide, Norgren 

can manage the most demanding of

international projects, and supports the

continuing growth of its customers

wherever they seek competitive advantage.

13
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“In the price-sensitive PET bottling machine
market, Norgren’s dedicated engineering
capabilities have enabled us to increase
productivity, reduce costs and grow our
market share.”
Klaus Voth,
Manager R&D, Stretch/blow moulding
technology, Krones AG



Our Indoor Climate business designs and

delivers products and services to ensure

problem-free, energy efficient and cost

effective heating, ventilation and air

conditioning (HVAC) systems for buildings

and indoor environments.

Driven by the twin objectives of personal

comfort and energy efficiency all our climate

products and services are based on close

partnerships with our clients. Through a

deep understanding of their needs and

applications, our strong system design

knowledge, commissioning and project

management skills ensure that hospitals,

airports, offices, retailers, hotel chains and

restaurants enjoy indoor environments that

optimise the comfort of their employees and

clients and the success of their operations.

perfecting indoor  

“We worked closely with the architects
and the consulting engineers to design
the optimum indoor climate solution for
more than 700,000 square metres of
indoor space, catering for millions of users
every year."
Jesús de Lara,
Managing Director, TA Spain
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Factfile Indoor Climate

TA, Heimeier, Commtech, FDI.

Perfecting indoor climate through the
provision of critical energy-efficient
heating, ventilation and air-conditioning
(HVAC) products and services.

Heating and cooling balancing systems
for commercial buildings and
temperature control for residential
buildings.

Sweden, Germany, UK and USA.

1,600

Key brands

Strategic focus

Main markets

Major operational
locations

Employees

Fluid Controls

2004

2005

£168m

£172m

Sales

2004

2005

£24.3m

£25.3m

Operating profit*

2004

2005

14.5%

14.7%

Operating margin

*before intangible amortisation



  climate

Rising energy costs are increasing the need for

successful energy management of buildings.

For both new and refurbished buildings we

analyse the relationship between heating,

ventilation, air conditioning, lighting and

power systems to deliver the most efficient

energy performance.

Following enactment of the Kyoto Protocol in

February 2005, corporations throughout the

world face a period of unprecedented

legislation designed to focus minds on

environmental sustainability and energy

conservation. As a major indoor climate

specialist, we are amongst the leading

providers of solutions that satisfy these

requirements and help our clients to meet

their local and international regulatory

obligations.

We are increasingly successful with large

capital construction projects. During

2005 major projects included the new

sports and administrative centre for 

Real Madrid, the Royal Alexander

Children’s Hospital in the United Kingdom,

the Beijing Xihuan Plaza office and retail

project in China and the Metro subway 

in Taiwan.

Global energy issues, investment in

differentiated new products and the fast

growing Eastern European, Asian and

Middle Eastern economies will drive the

growth of this business as we continue to

develop bespoke engineered products and

services that meet our customers’ needs.

“The size and scale of the new airport buildings
demanded a complex indoor climate manage-
ment system, but TA balancing technology
made possible our goals of energy efficiency
and comfort for passengers and staff alike.”
José Manuel Blanco,
Mechanical Installations Director,
Madrid Airport Technical Agency
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Cornelius supplies the world’s leading
beverage brand owners and major retailers
with products and systems that combine
beverage merchandising and dispensing in a
total package.
Cornelius solutions, based on market
awareness and cutting edge technology,
encompass everything from system
development and equipment specification
to operational management and technical
field support. Our unique solutions deliver
tangible customer benefit, driving growth for
the customer and maximising their profits by
increasing beverage incidence.
New initiatives by Bevcore, our US based on-
line parts business, continue to set industry
standards for after sales support, optimising
inventory control and reducing operating
costs for our customers.
Our deep relationships with customers

pioneering
beverage dispense

“Our advanced technology CryoCool
dispensing system is customised to each
outlet and brings space and energy
saving benefits to the operator as well as
accuracy to the quality of the drinks they
serve.“
Gary King,
Director of Retail Sales, Cornelius Europe
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Cornelius, Bevcore, Northern Parts.

Supplying innovative beverage cooling
and dispense solutions to brand owners
and retailers around the world.

Soft drinks and alcoholic beverage
cooling, dispense and point-of-sale
equipment for bars, restaurants and retail
outlets.

USA, UK, Germany, Mexico and China.

2,900

Key brands

Strategic focus

Main markets

Major operational
locations

Employees

Factfile Beverage Dispense
op
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Retail Dispense

2004

2005

£267m

£278m

Sales

2004

2005

£24.9m

£27.1m

Operating profit*

2004

2005

9.3%

9.7%

Operating margin

*before intangible amortisation



solutions
across the world are based on strong local
presence in all our geographic markets.
During 2005 the establishment of a Ukraine
manufacturing base extended our
infrastructure to service the emerging
markets of Ukraine and Russia, while
Northern Parts and Service, acquired in
November, strengthened our ability to
support all leading US food service chains.
Our operations in China already benefit
customers from our investment over recent
years in this fast growing market.
We continue to launch new products to
improve our customers' competitive
positions and meet the changing demands
of their consumers. We are also driving our
expertise into major stadia and 11 out of 12
soccer venues hosting the 2006 World Cup
in Germany feature soft drinks and beer
dispense systems supplied by Cornelius.

In the UK, a unique, specially-
developed automated beer
dispense solution is currently being
installed into Arsenal Football Club's
new Emirates Stadium undergoing
construction in North London.
Cornelius is a clear world wide
leader in beverage dispense
equipment. Our dispensing
solutions, point of sale displays and
outstanding service support are
attracting customers in growing
sectors such as non-carbonated 
soft drinks and coffee as well as our
traditionally strong carbonated drinks
and beer sectors. We will grow with
our customers, providing them with
solutions that maximise the success 
of their operations as they expand 
into new markets and products.
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“We need an expert who can help us sell more
refreshing cold drinks, consistently, every time,
to our consumers, and help us to drive
operational efficiencies. In both these areas,
Cornelius is adding real value to our business.“
Tony Hughes, Managing Director,
Mitchells & Butlers Restaurants

Retailers’ Retailer Of The Year 2006

IMI plc Annual Report 2005



Our Merchandising Systems business

engineers permanent point of sale

solutions that influence consumer

purchase decisions. Our investment in

consumer, retailer and distribution channel

research across many market sectors

enables us to develop sophisticated

bespoke products that drive tangible sales

and profits benefits for both brand owners

and retailers.

Our capabilities continue to develop in

support of global customers, especially in

the cosmetics and consumer electronics

sectors where impulse purchase plays a

particularly strong role in consumer

decision making. Our Artform and DCI

businesses provide a deep understanding

driving impulse purchase 
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Cannon, DCI Marketing, Artform, Display
Technologies.

Providing permanent point-of-sale
solutions and technologies that enhance
retailer and brand owner profitability by
driving impulse purchases.

Global brand owners and retail sales
outlets.

USA and UK.

1,600

Key brands

Strategic focus

Main markets

Major operational
locations

Employees

Factfile Merchandising Systems
op
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 and
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Retail Dispense

“Building on the UK success,we have worked
with the Rimmel Global team to supply more
than 30,000 retail installations in over 40 countries
with versions of the display system tailored to
specific retailers' needs - and all projecting the
brand consistently at the point of sale.”
Sandy Lloyd,
Key Account Manager, Artform International

2004

2005

£188m

£186m

Sales

2004

2005

£22.0m

£20.3m

Operating profit*

2004

2005

11.7%

10.9%

Operating margin

*before intangible amortisation



of these sectors that consumer brand

leaders can rely on. In bulk dispense and

grocery stock management systems 

Display Technologies and Cannon Equipment

bring their customers inventory control,

theft reduction and labour benefits as well as

sales uplift.

With retail markets becoming increasingly

sophisticated and dependent on point of

sale expertise to deliver volume and profit

improvements, we have launched Cannon

Retail Technologies, which will lead the

development of profit enhancing products

and services for major retailers.

We provide retail insight and the design,

engineering and logistics expertise to handle

major customer product programmes to

demanding timescales. In a

generally fragmented

industry, our Merchandising

Systems businesses are

demonstrating the advantages

that a well co-ordinated team

can bring. As a result, an

increasing proportion of our

revenues are from longer-term

contracts with major global

customers and our proposition

is increasingly attractive to the

world’s leading brands and

retailers.
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“Artform has contributed to the fantastic
renaissance of  Rimmel London with in-store
displays that capture our iconic imagery and
project the brand superbly in each retail
environment.”
Ian Williamson,
Managing Director, Coty UK 
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By assembling highly talented,
customer-focused, entrepreneurial-
minded teams of people in IMI,
adopting a carefully targeted approach
to the selection of our customer
partners and by understanding the
drivers of customers' businesses, we
can add long-term value for both them
and us. Recognising where value can
be added for both parties is the critical
and fundamental focus of our
approach across all our operations.

Accelerating our key 
account focus

We will invest in techniques in IMI to
improve customer and market insight
and use our acquired knowledge to
heighten our engineering capabilities
and customer offerings. Our dedicated
innovation unit, IMI Vision, provides a
powerful resource to develop new
concepts with our five businesses.
Able to draw on partners in other
industries and academic institutions,
IMI Vision helps to bring appropriate
new value-adding technologies to our
customers.

Increasing our 
creative abilities

a vision of the road ahead - our key 
strategic growth drivers

We continue our vigorous pursuit of a clear strategy that has already moved our business forward significantly

in recent years. Increasingly we are focused on growth with industry or sector leading customers in niche

markets that are themselves growing. Adding value to such customers and improving their performance is

the route to sustainable profit growth.

Our strategic growth imperatives are understood by all the senior management in IMI and embedded

throughout our businesses.
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We will expand our local resources 
and investment in response to the 
fast-growing markets of Asia and
Eastern Europe, and also recruit highly 
talented people from these territories
throughout our business. A new
advisory board in China is indicative of
our commitment to current and future
activities there. We support our
customers as they enter new markets
and ensure that we have the right
people ’on the ground’ with local
knowledge wherever we identify new
opportunities.

Seizing the market
initiative

We are increasing our efforts to secure
strategic acquisitions. We will ensure
these align with and support our
existing businesses and help develop
new markets further. We are interested
only in acquisitions that meet key criteria
including technology, talent, market
sector or key account relationships and
the ability to create significant
differentiation in the market place. We
will continue to invest in our businesses
where we see potential to promote
organic growth and use the on-market
share buyback programme to help
manage our balance sheet efficiently.

Balance sheet
management
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The results for the year 2005 demonstrate the advantage of having 

a spread of businesses with leading market positions focused on

niche end markets. Our Fluid Controls businesses performed

strongly with Severe Service benefiting from the buoyant energy

sector; Fluid Power continuing to forge ahead in its chosen sectors,

with Global Truck leading the way; and Indoor Climate proving again

the strength of its quality industry leading brands. In Retail Dispense,

the US businesses in Beverage Dispense produced a robust

performance; in Merchandising Systems, although the US automotive

merchandising sector was slower, our other targeted sectors did well.

The overall outcome is another year of solid progress in our

continuing platform businesses.

Organic growth in continuing businesses was around 4% in the first

half and 6% in the second half of this year. Total sales for the year in

continuing businesses increased by £102m of which £35m (3%)

came from acquisitions and £10m (less than 1%) came from the

translation impact of exchange rate movements.

Operating profit before intangible amortisation, in Fluid Controls at

£112.1m (2004: £90.3m) increased by 24% and in Retail Dispense at

£47.4m (2004: £46.9m) by 1%. Of the total operating profit generated

by continuing businesses, Fluid Controls contributed 70% (2004: 66%)

and Retail Dispense 30% (2004: 34%). Operating margins were 12.8%

in Fluid Controls and 10.2% in Retail Dispense.

The sale of Polypipe was completed on 2 September and the results

for the eight months of 2005 have been included and shown as

discontinued businesses. In that period the markets for the Polypipe

businesses were generally weaker than 2004 although the pricing

environment improved. Related to the decision to sell Polypipe we

also decided that due to its deteriorating market position, the Doors

and Windows division would be closed. Total sales and operating

profit for the Polypipe businesses in the eight months were 

£237m (2004 twelve months: £372m) and operating profit £18.8m 

(2004 twelve months: £27.2m).

Total Group sales at £1,578m (2004: £1,611m) were 2% lower, with

Group operating profit before intangible amortisation at £178.3m

(2004: £164.4m), 8.5% higher and Group operating margins

improved to 11.3% from 10.2%.

Interest costs for the year on net borrowings at £8.2m (2004: £9.2m)

were more than adequately covered by EBITDA. There was a net

credit from pension fund financing under IAS19 of £6.0m (2004:

£5.1m) and a loss arising from the hedging of financial instruments

under IAS39 of £0.6m (2004: gain of £0.8m). In the first half of the

year there had been a loss of £2.9m (2004: gain of £0.3m) and in the

second half of the year there was a gain of £2.3m (2004: £0.5m).

Profit before tax, intangible amortisation and exceptional items at

£175.5m (2004: £161.1m) is 9% ahead of last year. The net benefit

from acquisitions and exchange rates was around 3%. Intangible

asset amortisation comprises £2.3m (2004: £1.6m) in respect of the

amortisation of capitalised development costs and £3.3m (2004:

£4.2m) in respect of the amortisation of intangible assets on

acquisitions. Profit before tax and exceptional items is £169.9m

(2004: £155.3m), an increase of 9.4% over last year.

We have made a number of bolt-on acquisitions during the year

which are detailed on page 59. The contribution from these

acquisitions and the additional months of the acquisitions made 

in 2004, was £35m sales and £4.6m operating profit before

amortisation. Although it is early days for some of the businesses

acquired in the fourth quarter of 2005, all have made a solid start.

A summary of the major changes in sales and profit compared to

last year is as follows:

Sales  PBTAE* PBT**

£m £m £m

First half:
2004 801 77.1 76.3
Effects of currency translation (1) (0.1) (0.1)
Sales and operating profit:
Acquisitions 18 1.9 1.1
Other continuing operations 20 7.1 7.1
Discontinued operations (14) (1.2) (1.2)
Net interest cost 0.3 0.3
Other financing items (2.7) (2.7)
Amortisation - (0.3)

824 82.4 80.5

Second half:
2004 810 84.0 79.0
Effects of currency translation 11 1.4 1.4
Sales and operating profit:

Acquisitions 17 1.6 (0.7)
Other continuing operations 37 9.3 9.3
Discontinued operations (121) (7.2) (7.2)
Net interest cost 1.8 1.8
Other financing items 2.2 2.2
Amortisation - 3.6

754 93.1 89.4

Year 1,578 175.5 169.9

* Profit before tax, amortisation and exceptional items .

**Profit before tax and exceptional items.

Trevor Slack  Finance Directorfinancial review

22 Financial review

financial review



Exceptional items - Polypipe

The Polypipe businesses previously included under Building

Products were sold to New York based private equity investment

fund, Castle Harlan Partners IV LP. The proceeds of the transaction at

the time of the sale were worth up to £293m comprising £219m

payable in cash, a vendor loan note with a par value of £39m and a

contingent consideration of £35m based on performance targets for

the three years ending 31 December 2007. The loan note could be

repaid through a buyer refinancing in the high yield market or else

IMI could exercise its right to sell the note at a time consistent with

realising best value. No repayment was received and we exercised

our right to sell the note. The proceeds of £35.9m were received in

February 2006.

The loss on sale of Polypipe and the associated costs of the closure

of the Doors and Windows division are shown as an exceptional

item arising on discontinued businesses. The exceptional loss after

available tax relief is £99.3m. In arriving at the overall loss the

contingent consideration has not been recognised as the amount

receivable will not be known until 2008.

Exceptional items – European Commission enquiry

In 2004 we were notified of a fine imposed by the European

Commission in respect of the former copper tube business. Pending

the outcome of an appeal made in January 2005, the full amount of

the fine and associated costs, together amounting to £33.1m (no tax

relief on the fine has been assumed), was provided at 31 December

2004. The fine was paid in February 2005 and to date we are still

awaiting the outcome of the appeal.

We reported in September 2005 that we had received a Statement

of Objections from the European Commission with respect to our

former copper plumbing fittings businesses which were sold in

2002. A decision from the Commission as to the level of any

possible fine in the fittings enquiry is expected at some point in

2006. It is not possible to give any reliable estimate of the likely 

level of fine and consequently no provision has been made at 

31 December 2005.

Profit before tax after exceptional items

Because of the materiality of the pre-tax profit contribution from

discontinued businesses, we have shown this separately in the

income statement, as well as the loss after tax of discontinued

businesses as required by International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRS).

Taxation

The effective tax rate for the year on profit before intangible

amortisation and exceptional items is 32% compared to 33% 

in 2004.

Earnings per share

Adjusted earnings per share is calculated before the change in fair

value of financial instruments, intangible amortisation and

exceptional items, as the Board still consider this to give a more

meaningful indication of the underlying performance of the Group.

Full details of the calculations are shown on page 63. The total

adjusted earnings per share for the year increased 13.2% from 

29.5p to 33.4p and adjusted earnings per share from continuing

businesses increased by 22.7% from 24.2p to 29.7p. The significance

of the exceptional items reduces basic earnings per share to 3.9p

compared to 19.1p last year.
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2005 2004
% Change £m £m

Sales:
First half +3 824 801
Second half -7 754 810

-2 1,578 1,611

Operating profit before 
amortisation :
First half +10 87 79
Second half +7 91 85

+8 178 164

PBTAE*:
First half +7 82 77
Second half +11 93 84

+9 175 161

Intangible amortisation :
First half 2 1
Second half 3 5

5 6

PBTE :
First half +6 80 76
Second half +13 90 79

+9 170 155

Half year analysis

The comparison for the first half and second half of the year is:

* Profit before tax, amortisation and exceptional items.



The operating cash flow of continuing businesses was £167m (2004:

£156m) and discontinued businesses outflow of £3m (2004: inflow of

£34m).

Our platform businesses continue to improve efficiencies in working

capital and this strong focus has again resulted in a strong cash

performance. The continuing businesses conversion rate of

operating cash to operating profit was 105%. It is not possible in the

long run to continue at the rate of cash conversion that we have

managed over the last few years but operations will be expected 

to maintain close attention to cash consistent with the growth

opportunities of the business.

Capital expenditure in the year in continuing businesses was £48m

(2004: £36m).

As can be seen in the above table, after taking into account the EC

fine and the additional contribution to the UK pension fund, referred

to later, free cash flow before dividends and corporate activity was

£53m (2004: £127m). The conversion of our foreign currency

borrowings at the year end, particularly the US dollar borrowings,

resulted in an increase of £12m in reported debt. Net debt at the

end of the year was £11m. The year end net debt to EBITDA of

continuing businesses ratio is only 0.1 and debt to cash flow before

corporate activity ratio was 0.2. Since the year end we have received

the proceeds from the sale of the Polypipe vendor loan note and

announced the acquisition of Truflo, subject to regulatory clearances,

for an enterprise value of £113m.

During the year a number of banking facilities were renewed and

the Group does not anticipate any problems increasing facilities

further to support corporate activity as required. There are no

material funds outside the UK where repatriation is restricted. The

core of the Group’s debt remains in the form of US loan notes (2007-

2022) totalling $245m (£142m) with an average maturity of 5.4 years.

Dividend

The Board has recommended a 6.4% increase in the final dividend

to 10.85p (2004: 10.2p) giving a total dividend for the year of 17.5p,

an increase of 6%. The total cost of the final dividend is expected to

be £37.1m giving a total cost of £58.4m for the dividends paid in

respect of the year ended 31 December 2005. Dividend cover is 

1.9 times based on adjusted earnings per share of 33.4p.

Pensions

The IMI Pension Fund remains the largest employee benefit

obligation within the Group. Like many other UK companies, the

Fund is very mature having significantly more pensioners and

deferred pensioners than active participating members. During the

year, the actuarial valuation at 31 March 2005 was completed and a

deficit of £51m resulted. This was largely brought about by a

revision to the mortality assumptions. The Company has taken steps

to eliminate this deficit over the next four years by annual payments

of around £16m commencing in December 2005. At the same time,

the Fund has been closed to new members and a defined

contribution scheme introduced. Future accrual of benefits for

existing members at 31 December 2005 will continue. After

constructive consultation with employee representatives, it was

agreed that both employee contributions and employer

contributions would be increased.

Cash flow

The Group cash flow statement is shown on page 50. The change in

net debt is summarised below:

financial review continued
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2005  2004

£m £m

EBITDA* 198 175

Working capital requirements 11 14

Capital expenditure (48) (36)

Capital sales 6 3

Operating cash flow (continuing) 167 156

Operating cash flow (discontinued) (3) 34

European Commission fine (31) -

Additional pension scheme funding (16) -

Tax paid (54) (52)

Interest paid (net) (10) (11)

Free cash flow before corporate activity 53 127

Acquisitions and disposals including 

acquired debt 145 (21)

Dividends paid (59) (56)

Issue of shares 10 4

Purchase of shares (72) -

Currency translation (12) 15

Change in net debt 65 69

* Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.
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The IAS19 deficit for the Group employee benefit obligations at 

31 December 2005 increased to £173m from £142m mainly as a

result of the UK Fund revaluation.

Treasury policy

The Group’s central treasury function operates within polices and

parameters approved by the Board encompassing currency, interest,

funding and cash management risks. The function’s objective is to

provide a sound financial base where the major financial risks can 

be minimised. The use of derivative instruments is permitted where

their effect is to reduce the Group’s risk. A control and reporting

system is in place to ensure compliance with policies. There have

been no changes in the year or since the year end to the Group’s

approach to financial risk management.

Foreign exchange and interest rate risk

It is the Group’s policy to minimise risk to exchange rates by hedging

currency exposures at the time of commitment or when there is a

high probability of future commitment using currency instruments

(primarily forward exchange contracts).The Group’s wide geographic

spread both in terms of cost base and customer locations helps to

reduce the impact on profitability of swings in exchange rates as

well as creating opportunities for central netting of exposures.

Currency loans and foreign exchange contracts are used to reduce

the translation risks associated with holding currency based net

assets. The Group reduces its exposure to short term swings in

interest rates through a combination of fixed rate debt and

derivative contracts where appropriate. The effect of a global rise of

1% in short term interest rates during 2006 would be to reduce the

Group’s interest cost by less than £1m.

Credit risk

A central view is taken on bank credit risk in respect of deposits,

financial instruments and provision of funding arrangements.

A group of core relationship banks provides the bulk of the banking

services – with pre-approved credit limits set for each institution.

At the end of 2005 surplus cash was deposited with the Group’s

banks with no single institution having more than £30m.

Exchange rates

The management of currency movements as it impacts operating

activities is dealt with by local management as appropriate. Where

possible, treasury management is used to mitigate exposure. In a

complex multi-currency organisation, it is not easy to quantify the

commercial/transaction effect of currency movements. As reported

earlier, the translation impact on the profit and loss account was not

significant. The most important foreign currencies for the Group

remain the Euro and the US dollar and the relevant rates of

exchange were:

Return on capital employed 

Return on capital employed of continuing operations, defined as

operating profit before intangible amortisation as a percentage of

closing net assets, was 38%. This equates to a post tax return of 26%

at the underlying tax rate of 32%.

Going concern

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and

the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational

existence for the foreseeable future and therefore the financial

statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Share price and shareholder return

The share price at 30 December 2005 was 503.00p (2004: 393.75p)

an increase of 28%. Based on the year end share price, the total

dividend of 17.5p gives a yield of 3.5%.

Average At 31 December
2005 2004 2005 2004

Euro 1.46 1.47 1.46 1.41
US dollar 1.82 1.83 1.72 1.92
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responsible business

As a leading global engineering business, we take our responsibilities

to the environment and the communities in which we operate (often

referred to as Corporate and Social Responsibility or CSR) very

seriously. We believe that these responsibilities can impact positively

on profitability, returns to shareholders, reputation and growth and

that we can achieve high standards of responsibility without

compromising growth or business efficiency. We put particular

emphasis on ensuring  that our management of social, environmental

and economic issues is aligned and integrated with the overall

management of the business. We call this ‘responsible business’.

In 2005 IMI plc was again included in the FTSE4Good index and in

early 2006  we signed up to the United Nations Global Compact. In

the 2005 Index of Corporate Environmental Engagement survey

conducted by Business in the Environment amongst the FTSE 350

companies, IMI again scored an excellent overall rating with an

average score of 82.

Managing and monitoring CSR performance

The Board has delegated responsibility for CSR matters to the finance

director. Under his direction existing policies in a number of related

areas were reviewed during 2005 and brought together in the form of

a new Group CSR policy, which was approved by the Board and rolled

out during the year.

A small senior team, with relevant experience, reporting to the

finance director and liaising closely with the business units, meets

regularly to review the Group’s performance on CSR and any

necessary improvements. We have created a three-year responsible

business strategy which will ensure that these policies are fully

embedded in the business units. In conjunction with this, formal

‘responsible business’audits incorporating Health, Safety and

Environmental (HS&E) issues and internal surveys and reviews are

carried out across the Group’s operations. Our CSR objectives are

reviewed at least annually within the normal business planning cycle,

both corporately and as applicable to each business. The president

and other senior personnel of each operating unit are responsible 

for the implementation of responsible business policies, their

communication across the business and compliance with all related

policies and principles. HS&E forums are held annually in the UK and

the USA to understand risks in these areas and to establish, share and

promote best practice. To maximise our responsible business

opportunities, we have appointed CSR champions, who are all senior

managers, in each of our five businesses.

We publish greater detail about our CSR management systems 

and policies as well as our environmental report on our website

www.imiplc.com. This information is updated annually in August and

more frequently as and when relevant information becomes available.

The website also includes links to some of the main charitable, community

and social programmes supported by the Group.

Priorities for IMI businesses

Over the past year we have used the four priorities identified in 2004  to

accelerate our efforts to work in ways that are more sustainable and ensure

that we take account of all stakeholders, including future generations.

Our four CSR priorities and the key objectives associated with them are:

1. That all our operations meet or exceed all legal requirements in the

territories in which they operate with regard to employment practices,

health and safety, environment, corporate governance, competition and

anti-trust. Where legislation does not exist, we will apply our own

standards of best practice.Our objectives are:

� To improve transparency of IMI’s legal compliance mechanisms.

� To anticipate changes in legislation to ensure continued compliance,

minimise the cost/risk of implementation (while achieving full

compliance) and maximise potential commercial benefits arising from

legislative change.

2. To support our customers’CSR priorities.Our operations seek to

understand the whole business environment experienced by our

customers, including their social and ethical responsibilities. We actively

support our customers on issues that are priorities for them.Typically these

issues may include diversity in the workplace, training,energy conservation

and supply-chain relationships. Our objectives in this area are:

� To take advantage of business opportunities arising from customer

priorities.

� To work proactively with customers on responsible business issues

that could affect our relationship with them.

� To ensure that any threats arising from our customers’responsible

business issues are identified and managed.

In Hungary, for example, our Indoor Climate customers face skills shortages

which we are helping to resolve through an association with the Technical

University in Budapest. Our experts participate in technical seminars and

provide advanced hydronic balancing equipment and textbooks to assist

both staff and students.

One of our most important Cornelius customers required both our Tianjin

plant in China and our largest Cornelius facility, at Glendale Heights in the

USA, to undertake an external ‘social accountability’audit in 2005. The

customer was entirely satisfied that our policies and practice fully

supported their own principled public position.

3. To manage the particular challenges relating to manufacturing

facilities in low-cost countries. We ensure that all our facilities operate in

accordance with our policies on health, safety and the environment,

employment practices (particularly child labour) , pay, benefits and

working conditions, improper gifts and payments, and also set

standards on these matters that suppliers too are required to meet,

we take our responsibilities seriously...

Responsible business
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“As we develop a relationship that
encourages innovation and enterprise on
both sides, partnership with IMI will have a
measurable impact on the lives of hundreds
of young people and their communities, as
well as on IMI's own employees.“
Nadia Ammar, Development Director,
CIDA Foundation, South Africa.

in line with the UN Global Compact. We have developed a supplier

evaluation tool to ensure that performance is reviewed in a systematic

way. Our objectives are:

� To minimise supply chain reputational risks to IMI and our customers.

� To manage reputational and business efficiency opportunities and

threats within IMI and our suppliers.

� To improve our suppliers’understanding and actions in the area of

Responsible Business.

Demonstrating this commitment is our Norgren plant in Brno which, in

June 2005, became the first in The Czech Republic and one of the first

facilities of any sort in the whole of Eastern Europe to gain Investors in

People certification.

Our Cornelius facility at Tianjin also continues to set an excellent example,

with a high level of social insurance, including medical and pensions for all

employees, and a popular vocational training scheme, also available to all.
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4. Maximising energy efficiency. Each of our facilities is required to set

targets aimed at minimising emissions with global warming potential

and also reducing the associated costs. Our objectives are:

� To minimise our energy use relative to our sales.

� To minimise our impact on the environment (principally

emissions of CO2).

� To minimise the cost of energy use to improve profitability.

� To take advantage of business opportunities associated with

energy efficiency.

In all our facilities recycling and reducing waste are part of how we

do business, but of particular note this year was a project at Norgren’s

Littleton plant which involved all employees in identifying energy

saving opportunities. Process improvements and simple energy

conservation measures provided immediate savings of at least

$40,000 a year with further potential savings over time. A similar

exercise at Farnham in the UK yielded a 33% saving in gas usage

despite moving to a 24-hour operation and also reduced cardboard

waste by 45% (14.5 tonnes).

At Cannon Equipment’s Chattanooga plant in the USA, installation of

a new paint spray system has reduced overspray powder waste

going to landfill by 30 tonnes a year as well as reducing the use of

aerosol touch-up paint.

This fourth priority is also expressed through the fact that reduced

energy consumption is a primary benefit of and selling point for

many of the products and services provided by IMI Group

companies, for whom promoting efficient use of energy is good

business.

A typical TA project, for example, for cooling in large public buildings,

will deliver savings through reduced temperature fluctuations and

pumping costs resulting in combined energy savings of 13-22%.

A more domestic project, a housing cooperative in Sweden that used

our Indoor Climate services in 2005, reduced its energy costs by

€90,000, a minimum 15% saving for this and subsequent years.

Corporate governance

The Company’s commitment to best practice in all aspects of

corporate governance and details of the standards it adheres to can

be found on pages 34 to 37. Information is also available on the

corporate website (www.imiplc.com)

Community engagement

We place great emphasis on community relationships at many levels.

This year we have reviewed our charitable donations policy, for

example, and  begun what we intend to be long-term relationships

with Care for Children in China (www.careforchildren.com.cn) and

CIDA Foundation (www.cidafoundation.org) in South Africa. Our

intention is that contacts will develop beyond financial support to

include individual initiatives and personnel exchange programmes.

At corporate headquarters we continue our long-standing support for

and work with local institutions of world class calibre, including the City

of Birmingham Symphony Orchestra (CBSO) and the Birmingham

Royal Ballet, but we also maintain healthy relationships with local

schools and other charitable bodies. In the summer of 2005, through

our relationship with the CBSO, we again hosted a free lunchtime

‘concert in the business park’ for the benefit of our immediate

neighbours.

All IMI global graduates are encouraged to undertake community

placements during their training period. The UK Imagineering

initiative, involving a number of IMI graduate trainees and final year

university students to promote engineering in schools, was again

very well received. Other examples of community engagement in

2005 included:

� The FIRST national science programme in the USA which aims to

motivate students in science, engineering and mathematics. Norgren

provided equipment as part of the kit supplied to each FIRST team

and also sponsored and mentored a high school team in Detroit.

� IMI facilities around the world responded to appeals for help in

mitigating the natural disasters of 2005, especially the Asian tsunami

and Hurricane Katrina.

� Nominated employees at Cannon Equipment trained in

emergency response who are provided with time when community

emergencies occur during their work schedules.

� An eighth year of funding and active employee participation by

Display Technologies, part of our Merchandising Systems business,

with the Queens Child Guidance Centre in New York. This non-profit

community organisation works to improve the well being of children,

adolescents and their families.

IMI businesses once again also made significant contributions to health-

related causes both financially and through the personal contributions

of our employees. Successful blood donation drives were again held at

many IMI facilities around the world.Amongst numerous other health-

related activities across the Group, at headquarters, IMI matched the

funds raised by a team of 20 employees participating in ‘Race for Life’ in

aid of Breast Cancer research and DCI in Milwaukee, USA, gave

significant support to research into Muscular Dystrophy.

These examples and many others demonstrate how our businesses and

the people within them make a positive contribution to their local

communities and environments, while still delivering the necessary

business performance. For IMI people, responsibility is fundamental to

the way we conduct our business.

Responsible business

responsible business
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“Applying the building energy management
expertise of our indoor climate company
Commtech to our own properties around the
world, using thermal imaging and other
advanced techniques,promises improvements in
our use of energy and cost savings of up to 25%.”
Les Frith,
Head of Property, IMI plc



Martin J Lamb 

Chief Executive 

Age 46; joined IMI in 1986;

appointed to the Board in

1996 and as Chief Executive

in January 2001. Mr Lamb

has extensive experience of

engineering and managed

several major businesses

within the Group before his

present appointment. Non-

executive director of

Spectris plc.

Trevor J Slack

Finance Director 

Age 59; joined IMI in 1976;

appointed to the Board in 1997.

Mr Slack has broad experience of

operational and financial

management and accounting

matters. As Finance Director he

is also responsible for the

company secretarial, legal,

investor relations, human

resources, risk management and

property functions.

David C Nicholas

Executive Director

Age 56; joined the IMI Board in

2004. He is responsible for

Fluid Controls, which

comprises Fluid Power, Indoor

Climate and Severe Service.

His recent past directorships

include Tyco Flow Control

Europe. He has extensive

experience in managing

engineering businesses.

Wayne R Whitney

Executive Director

Age 56; joined IMI in 1987, and

was appointed to the Board in

2004. He is responsible for

Retail Dispense, which

comprises Beverage Dispense

and Merchandising Systems.

Appointed President, Cannon

Equipment in September 2001

and President, Retail Dispense

in October 2003.

Age 52; non-executive; joined

the IMI Board in 2003. He began

his career as a chartered

accountant and was in private

practice until moving into

investment business and

management in 1999. He is a

member of the Industrial

Advisory Board of Alchemy

Partners LLP and his current

directorships include Open and

Direct Limited and Kestrel

Holdings Limited.

Age 56; non-executive; joined

the IMI Board in January 2005.

Mr Browne is non-executive

Chairman of Standard Chartered

Bank, China, where he was Chief

Executive between 1996 and

2001. He has held a range of

senior positions in banking and

engineering businesses. He has

lived in China for over 20 years

and is an Honorary Citizen of

Shanghai. He has also received a

CBE for his work in China.

Age 63; non-executive Chairman; joined the IMI Board in May 2005.

He has extensive international experience in industry including

previous positions as Chief Executive of Virginia Power in the 

USA and BNFL. His current positions include the chairmanship 

of both Taylor Woodrow plc and the Board of Governors of

Manchester University.

Age 43; non-executive; joined

the IMI Board in March 2005.

He has been Executive

Chairman of Serco Group plc

since May 2004. He is a

member of the CBI’s President’s

Committee, Deputy Chairman

of the CBI’s Public Services

Strategy Board, Director of the

Board of Companions of the

Chartered Management

Institute (CMI) and a Director of

Ipswich Town Football Club plc.

Age 48; non-executive; joined the

IMI Board in March 2006. She is

senior non-executive director of

Victrex plc and a non-executive

director of Aberdeen Asset

Management PLC, Northumbrian

Water Ltd and Securities Trust of

Scotland plc. Previously an

executive director of Abbott

Mead Vickers PLC, Director 

of Corporate Development at 

WPP Group Plc and Head of UK

Equity Investment at Scottish

Provident in Edinburgh.
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Executive directors (left to right) Trevor Slack, David Nicholas, Wayne Whitney and Martin Lamb.
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Group. A relevant selection of corporate policies are available on our
website (www.imiplc.com). Further information on corporate social
responsibility matters is set out below and on pages 26 to 29.

Employment policies 
The Group continues to support employee involvement at all levels
in the organisation. A formal joint consultative process is operated in
all except the smallest units where it is strongly encouraged on an
informal basis. During the year consultative arrangements, including
formal committees and team briefings, were used to consider and
discuss employees’ views, to develop understanding of business aims,
to increase awareness of financial and economic factors affecting
performance, and to improve effectiveness. The Group has a
European Works Council which meets at least once a year to
exchange views on pan-European issues facing the Group.

The Annual Report is available to all employees. The Company
operates an All Employee Share Ownership Plan covering all UK
employees of certain operations, under which an annual bonus
worth up to £3,000 can be awarded to employees in shares and
employees can invest their own money to acquire additional shares
in a tax efficient manner. A savings-related share option scheme,
which is available to the majority of UK employees, has operated
since 1984.

A number of management development initiatives are co-ordinated
across the Group, including the IMI Academy and a senior talent
management programme called Aspire. Aspire is a merit based
scheme and the starting point for entry is self-nomination, with
managers from across the Group free to put their own names
forward for a series of assessment and selection activities. Those
managers achieving the benchmark have been invited to join Aspire
and take part in a range of tailored development activities. The
Group encourages its operating units to train and develop
employees at all levels and a wide range of business-related
education and training opportunities are made available.

It is Group policy to promote equal opportunities in employment
consistent with the requirements of the countries in which the
Group operates. The policy extends to employees and applicants for
employment and requires companies in the Group to eliminate
discrimination and communicate and promote the policy to all
employees. Presidents of operating units have responsibility for
complying with the policy and each employee is required to
participate in the policy. Every effort is made to ensure that
applications for employment from disabled persons are fully and
fairly considered and that disabled employees have equal
opportunity in training and promotion. As a matter of longstanding
policy, where appropriate, employees who become disabled have
been given suitable training for employment within the Group or
elsewhere. The Group also supports charities for assisting disabled
people into work.

Health, safety and the environment 
It is Group policy to maintain healthy and safe working conditions
and to operate in a responsible manner with regard to the
environment. A summary of the relevant Group policies and
performance is set out on page 26 and further information is
available on our website (www.imiplc.com).

The year’s results 
The Group consolidated income statement is shown on page 48.
Group profit before tax, intangible amortisation and exceptional
items amounted to £175.5 million (2004: £161.1 million) and profit
before taxation amounted to £169.9 million (2004: £122.2 million).
Earnings applicable to shareholders of IMI plc amounted to £13.5
million (2004: £67.5 million).

Dividends 
The directors recommend a final dividend at the rate of 10.85p per
share on the ordinary share capital payable on 26 May 2006 to
shareholders on the register at the close of business on 18 April 2006.
Together with the interim dividend of 6.65p per share paid on 
21 October 2005, this final dividend brings the total distribution for
the year to 17.5p per share (2004: 16.5p per share).

Principal activities
During 2005 the Group’s businesses were organised under the
following main classes: Fluid Controls and Retail Dispense. Subsidiary
companies operating within these classes of business are listed on
pages 94 and 95. The turnover, profit and capital employed
attributable to each of these classes of business are shown in note 3
on pages 57 to 59. The former Building Products businesses, which
comprised the Polypipe Group, were sold on 2 September 2005.

Review of activities
The activities of the Group in 2005, together with indications of likely
future developments, are reviewed on pages 6 to 21. Details of
acquisitions and disposals are given in notes 4 and 5 on pages 59
and 60. In March 2006 IMI announced that it had agreed to acquire
the Truflo Group for £113 million (enterprise value).

Research and development
Expenditure on research and development in the year was 
£29.4 million compared with £26.6 million in 2004: of this amount
£5.2 million (2004: £2.8million) has been capitalised.

Shareholders’ funds 
Shareholders’ funds decreased from £550.8 million at the end of 2004
to £417.6 million at 31 December 2005.

Share capital
Between 21 March 2005 and 31 December 2005, the Company
made market purchases of a total of 17,081,000 of its own shares
with an aggregate market value of £72.6 million (nominal value
£4,270,250) including dealing costs of £0.3 million. During the year
3,825,347 new ordinary shares were issued under employee share
schemes; 974,486 under the all employee share ownership and save
as you earn plans and 2,850,861 under executive share options. The
Company has been notified of the following substantial interests (3%
or more) in its issued share capital:

Standard Life Investments 5.01%

Legal and General Investment Management 3.99%

Barclays Global Investors 3.95%

Corporate social responsibility 
The Board has adopted a range of corporate policies, including a
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy, which reflect the high
standards of conduct it sets for itself and employees across the
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32 Directors’ report

d
irectors’rep

ort



Policy and practice on the payment of trade creditors 
Operating units are responsible for making their suppliers aware of
the terms of payment and agreeing such terms with their suppliers
for each business transaction. It is Group policy that payments to
suppliers are made in accordance with these terms. The Company is
not a trading entity.

Donations 
£401,000 was given during 2005 for community and similar purposes
including £298,000 for charitable purposes. The Group supports a
range of selected national charities and smaller charitable
organisations operating in communities where the Group has a
presence. Our approach to charitable and other donations is
explained on pages 26 to 29. No donations to political parties were
made during the year.

Directors 
The persons who were directors throughout the year were 
Mr T M Gateley, Mr M J Lamb, Mr D C Nicholas, Mr T J Slack and 
Mr W R Whitney. Mr J W Leng was Chairman until his retirement on
13 May 2005. Mr L Browne and Mr K Beeston were appointed as
non-executive directors with effect from 1 January and 8 March
2005, respectively. Mr N B M Askew was appointed to the Board as
Chairman with effect from 14 May 2005. Ms A Frew was appointed
as a non-executive director on 2 March 2006.

Under the Company’s articles of association, Mr D C Nicholas and 
Mr W R Whitney retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and are both recommended for re-election. In addition,
Mr Askew and Ms Frew will be standing for re-election at that
meeting, being the first annual general meeting since they were
appointed. Biographical details appear on page 30. Mr Askew is
Chairman and both he and Ms Frew are non-executive directors 
with a letter of appointment and do not have a service contract.
Mr Nicholas and Mr Whitney are executive directors and each has a
service contract terminable on one year’s notice.

The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and
has entered into an indemnity arrangement with each director in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 (as amended) in respect of
the costs of defending civil, criminal and regulatory proceedings
brought against a director, in their capacity as such, where not
covered by insurance.

Directors’ interests
The interests of the persons (including the interests of their families)
who were directors at the end of the year in the share capital of the
Company, and their interests in the Company’s share option
schemes, are shown on pages 45 and 46.

Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements 
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and
the group and parent company financial statements, in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent
company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the directors are required to prepare the group financial statements
in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and have elected to
prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with
UK Accounting Standards.

The Group financial statements are required by law and IFRS as
adopted by the EU to present fairly the financial position and
performance of the Group; the Companies Act 1985 provides in
relation to such financial statements that references in the relevant
part of that Act to financial statements giving a true and fair view are
references to their achieving a fair presentation.

The parent company financial statements are required by law to give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the parent company.

In preparing each of the group and parent company financial
statements, the directors are required to:

� select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

� make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

� for the group financial statements, state whether they have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU;

� for the parent company financial statements, state whether
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in the parent
company financial statements; and

� prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the group and the parent
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the parent company and enable them to ensure that its
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They
have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent
and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also
responsible for preparing a Directors' Report, Directors' Remuneration
Report and Corporate Governance Statement that comply with that
law and those regulations.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the corporate and financial information included on the company's
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.

Annual general meeting 
The annual general meeting will be held at the Hilton Birmingham
Metropole Hotel, National Exhibition Centre, Birmingham on Friday
12 May 2006, commencing at noon. Notice of the meeting will be
sent to shareholders as a separate circular.

Auditor
Resolutions for the re-appointment of KPMG Audit Plc as auditor of
the Company and to authorise the directors to determine the
auditor’s remuneration are to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

By order of the Board 
John O’Shea
Company Secretary 
6 March 2006 
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34 Corporate governance

Statement of Compliance 
The Board is committed to high standards of corporate governance and confirms that throughout the year ended 31 December 2005 the
Company has applied the principles of good governance contained in the Combined Code and complied with its best practice provisions as
set out below in the Board’s report on corporate governance and in its remuneration report on pages 38 to 46.

The Board is able to report compliance with the Combined Code throughout 2005 save that the balance of the Board and its committees was
affected by vacancies for two independent non-executive directors. Following the retirement of Mr G J Allen as Chairman on 31 December
2004, Mr J W Leng chaired the Board. Until 4 April 2005 Mr Leng retained the chair of the Remuneration Committee and also continued to
serve on the Audit Committee until his retirement from the Board. These arrangements were considered appropriate pending the
appointment of a new Chairman and additions to the non-executive team.

As anticipated, the appointment of a new Chairman was announced before the annual general meeting in May 2005, after which Mr Leng
stood down from the Board and Mr N B M Askew became Chairman. In addition, two non-executive directors joined the Board during the
year, which brought the balance and composition of the Board and all of its committees close to full compliance with the Combined Code.
An additional independent non-executive director, Ms A Frew, was appointed on 2 March 2006 and brought the non-executive presence on
the Board up to four in accordance with the Combined Code.

The Board 
At the end of the year the Board comprised eight directors: the Chairman; Chief Executive; three independent non-executive directors
(increased to four on 2 March 2006); the Finance Director and two other executive directors. Changes in the composition of the Board are
noted in the Directors' Report.

The non-executive directors are all free from any business or other relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgement. All of them meet the criteria for independence under the new Combined Code and are regarded by the Board as
independent of the Group's executive management. The Chairman, Mr N B M Askew, was also regarded as independent at the date of his
appointment in May 2005. The independent non-executive directors are from varied backgrounds and bring with them a wide range of skills
and experience of senior management in commerce and industry. Biographical details of the current directors are shown on page 30.

Each new appointee to the Board is required to stand for re-election at the next annual general meeting following their appointment. In
addition, one third of the Board retire by rotation at each annual general meeting and each director stands for re-election at least once every
three years.

The Board provides leadership, direction and control for the business and corporate affairs of the Group and oversees business and
management performance. During the year the Board reviewed and adopted a restatement of matters reserved to it and powers delegated to
its committees and the executive directors. Board reserved matters include strategy and key areas of policy, major investment decisions and
changes in the composition of the Group. The Board reviews budgets, forecasts and plans for the businesses of the Group on an annual basis.
Quarterly meetings of the Board consider detailed financial and management reports on the operational and strategic progress of the Group.
Senior executives from around the Group are invited by the Board to attend certain meetings to make presentations and join in discussion.

There is a clear division of responsibility between the Chairman and Chief Executive, which is reflected in a written statement approved by 
the Board. In summary, the Chairman is responsible for the leadership and running of the Board but does not have any executive powers 
or responsibilities. The Chief Executive leads the executive management team in running the businesses and implementing operating and
strategic plans under authority delegated by the Board. The executive team includes: the Chief Executive, Mr M J Lamb; Finance Director,
Mr T J Slack; and two operational executives, Mr D C Nicholas, responsible for Fluid Controls, and Mr W R Whitney, responsible for Retail Dispense.

Non-executive directors are encouraged to become familiar with the businesses and there is regular communication between management
and non-executive directors. The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Board meetings operate to an appropriate agenda, and that
adequate information is provided sufficiently in advance of meetings to allow proper consideration. He is supported by the Company
Secretary, who also assists in ensuring that the Board operates in accordance with good corporate governance under the Combined Code and
relevant regulatory requirements. The Company Secretary acts as secretary to all of the committees of the Board. The Board has a recognised
procedure for any director to obtain independent professional advice at the Company’s expense and all directors have access to the Company
Secretary who is a solicitor.

The Board met on nine occasions during the year including four quarterly reviews, strategy days and visits to operations and meetings
convened for special purposes as the need arose. All members of the Board were in attendance at each meeting held during their tenure save
that Mr K S Beeston missed two meetings in the year and each of Mr L Browne, Mr M J Lamb and Mr W R Whitney missed one meeting.

Pursuant to the Combined Code, and in accordance with best practice, the non-executive directors met as a group with the Chairman on a
number of occasions during the year and the senior independent director convened one such a meeting in the absence of the Chairman.

corporate governance
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Standing committees of the Board  
The standing committees of the Board are: the Audit Committee; the Remuneration Committee; the Nominations Committee and the
Executive Committee. Each of these committees operate under written terms of reference which clearly set out their respective delegated
responsibilities and authorities. Summaries and the full terms of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nominations Committee appear on the Company website (www.imiplc.com). The Company Secretary acts as secretary to each of these
committees.

The Audit Committee was chaired by Mr T M Gateley. All of the other independent non-executive directors were also members of the Audit
Committee throughout the year except that Mr K S Beeston was appointed on 8 March 2005 and Mr J W Leng retired in May 2005. Ms A Frew
joined the committee on 2 March 2006. Mr T M Gateley is qualified as a chartered accountant and has significant relevant financial experience.
The committee received reports from the external auditor who attended its meetings when required to do so.The committee’s work included
reviewing the financial statements, accounting policies and significant issues of judgement (including transition to IFRS), internal financial
controls, the proposed external audit approach and the independence and objectivity of the external auditor. In assessing auditor
independence the committee had regard to the guidance for audit committees in the Smith Report and required the auditor to confirm that
its ethics and independence policies complied with the requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. The
Group policy on the use of the auditor for non-audit work is monitored by the committee. The committee also receives reports from and
monitors the work of the internal audit function, known as the “IMI Assurance Department”, and reviews the operation of the Group
whistleblowing policy and procedure. During the year the committee surveyed the main subsidiaries to assess the performance and efficiency
of the external auditor. The committee recommended and the Board approved the proposal to re-appoint the external auditor at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The committee met on four occasions during the year with all members in attendance except that 
Mr K S Beeston missed one meeting. The committee regularly calls upon the Chairman, Chief Executive, Finance Director and other personnel,
including the Controller and the Group Assurance Manager, to attend for parts of its meetings. The committee approved the foregoing report
on its work.

The Remuneration Committee was chaired by Mr J W Leng until 4 April 2005 when Mr K S Beeston (appointed 8 March 2005) became its
chairman. Mr Leng retired in May 2005 and the other independent non-executive directors, Mr T M Gateley and Mr L Browne, were members
of the Remuneration Committee throughout the year. Ms A Frew joined the committee on 2 March 2006. The committee’s main
responsibilities are to determine the remuneration policy and individual terms and conditions in respect of the executive directors including
new appointments and to set the Chairman’s remuneration. As well as salary and annual bonuses, the committee is responsible for the
structure and level of performance related elements of executive remuneration and pensions. The committee also reviews the packages 
of those at the next most senior level of management. The committee met on eight occasions during the year with all members in
attendance except that Mr K S Beeston and Mr L Browne each missed one meeting. External consultants were engaged by the committee to
provide advice and the Chairman, Chief Executive and Finance Director attended its meetings when required. During the year the committee
undertook a review of remuneration with particular reference to performance related remuneration, consulted with major investors and
formulated proposals for new incentive arrangements which were approved at the 2005 annual general meeting. In addition, the committee
considered the impact of anticipated tax changes in relation to UK pensions and decided on a selection of broadly cost neutral alternatives 
for serving executive directors to select. The committee approved the foregoing report on its work and more details are given in the
Remuneration Report.

The Nominations Committee comprised the former Chairman, Mr J W Leng, who chaired the committee until he was succeeded by 
Mr N B M Askew in May 2005, all of the other independent non-executive directors, (Mr K S Beeston from 8 March 2005), and the Chief
Executive. Ms A Frew joined the committee on 2 March 2006. During the year the committee reviewed Board composition and made
nominations for appointments to the Board and its committees. External search consultants were engaged by the committee in relation to
the recruitment of additional non-executive directors and worked to an agreed brief defining the core competencies and profile for each role.
It was through search consultants that the committee identified Mr K S Beeston, who was appointed to the Board on the committee’s
recommendation with effect from 8 March 2005. Appointments of non-executives are made on the basis of a standard form of appointment
letter. The committee considered the time that it believed a non-executive director would normally be required to commit to their duties
including committee work, and considered whether time given was sufficient. Each non-executive director and the Chairman was appointed
on the basis of a stated minimum time commitment judged appropriate by the committee. The committee also reviewed the roles of the
non-executive directors and made recommendations, which were approved by the Board, concerning the composition and chairmanship 
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. The committee met on five occasions during the year with all members in
attendance save that Mr K S Beeston and Mr L Browne each missed one meeting. The committee approved the foregoing report on its work.

The senior independent non-executive director, Mr T M Gateley, chaired a special committee established to search for and nominate a new
Chairman. The committee comprised the members of the Nominations Committee. Mr N B M Askew was appointed as Chairman with effect
from 14 May 2005 following the recommendation of the committee. The committee identified Mr N B M Askew through recruitment
consultants it engaged, who were separate from those used by the Nominations Committee to search for non-executive directors and did not
otherwise act for the Company during the year.
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The Executive Committee of the Board is chaired by the Chief Executive and consists of all the executive directors. It meets monthly and more
often as may be required in order to monitor performance, review business management issues and formulate budgets and proposals on
strategy, policy and resource allocation for consideration by the Board. Its minutes are circulated to all members of the Board. It also acts as 
the Risk Committee of the Board. Senior executives from around the Group are regularly called upon to attend meetings of the Executive
Committee.

Investor relations 
The annual general meeting is regarded by the Board as an important opportunity to meet and communicate with shareholders, particularly
private investors. The 2005 annual general meeting was chaired by the Chairman, and attended by the chairmen of the standing committees
of the Board and all of the other directors. The Chairman encouraged debate and questions at the formal meeting and informally during
refreshments afterwards.

Each substantially separate issue was put to the 2005 annual general meeting as an individual motion and the meeting was invited to adopt
and approve the financial statements and the directors’ report for 2004. A separate resolution for the approval of the remuneration report was
also put to the meeting. Notice of the 2005 annual general meeting was despatched more than twenty working days in advance and the level
of proxy votes lodged for and against each resolution, together with details of abstentions, were disclosed at the meeting and are shown on
the Company’s website.

In addition to the annual report, the Company publishes an interim report to shareholders and issues trading updates at the mid-year and in
December. The Company has its own website (www.imiplc.com) which includes recordings of certain key presentations made by senior
management, recent annual and interim reports, trading updates, other corporate announcements and links to the websites of Group
businesses. The Company has arranged a dealing service for the convenience of shareholders with Cazenove & Co (contact details are shown
on page 99).

The Board as a whole seeks to maintain a balanced understanding of the issues and concerns of major shareholders. Dialogue is maintained
with shareholders and the executive directors regularly meet with institutional investors. The Chief Executive and Finance Director have
primary responsibility for investor relations and report to the Board at least quarterly in that connection. In addition, financial analysts’ notes 
are circulated to the Board and regular feedback reports from the Company’s brokers are supplemented by periodic, independent surveys of
major investors’ views. The Chairman, senior independent non-executive director and other non-executives will meet with major shareholders
upon request and otherwise if any of them considers appropriate.

The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee consulted widely with major shareholders and institutional investor representative bodies
concerning the development of the remuneration policy and in particular the proposals for new long term incentive arrangements approved
at the 2005 annual general meeting.

Board induction, continuing professional development and evaluation  
A formal induction process for new directors has been in operation for several years. It is overseen and kept up to date by the Chairman with
support from the Chief Executive and Company Secretary. During and after induction directors are encouraged to visit business units around
the Group and to meet with operating management and corporate staff. Appropriate coaching and access to training and other continuing
professional development is available to all directors and all directors participated in some appropriate training during the year.

A mixture of assessment questionnaires and other processes for the evaluation of the Board, its committees and individual directors, including
the new Chairman, were conducted during 2005. This included non-executive directors meeting with the senior independent non-executive
director regarding the new Chairman. The assessed contribution and performance of individual directors standing for re-election is
summarised in the notice of the annual general meeting issued to shareholders with this Annual Report. Important outcomes of the process
have been to involve all directors in part of each meeting of the Audit Committee and to promote wider exposure of non-executive directors
to operations.

Corporate social responsibility  
The Board takes account of the social, environmental and ethical impact of its decisions and sets a framework of relevant policies for the Group.
Through the Group’s risk assessment processes key issues of corporate social responsibility are identified and addressed.

The Company satisfies the FTSE4Good global corporate responsibility criteria and has been awarded membership of the FTSE4Good Index.

More information on corporate social responsibility matters is given on pages 26 to 29 and on the Company website (www.imiplc.com).

Internal control 
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control and confirms that the system of internal control accords with 
the relevant guidance issued in September 1999 and revised in October 2005 by the Financial Reporting Council (the “Turnbull Committee
Guidance”).
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Consistent with the Turnbull Committee Guidance, the Board has assigned responsibility for the continuous review of risk management and
controls to the Executive Committee. During the year the Board received reports on risk issues from the Executive Committee and reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control in relation to financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management.
In addition, the Audit Committee considered and reported to the Board on the financial aspects of internal control including the nature and
scope of external audit. The committee also reviews the internal audit work carried out by the IMI Assurance Department.

Each operating unit is required to undertake a continuous process of business risk assessment and reporting. This is reviewed by the most
senior executive within the relevant business and any major risk issues are referred to the Executive Committee at least quarterly. The Executive
Committee makes regular reports to the Board on major business risks faced by individual operations and by the Group and how it is
proposed that those risks be managed. Through this process business risks are identified, assessed and ranked according to their nature and
urgency and the Board considers what measures would be appropriate in order to manage such risks.

The Board has clearly defined in writing those matters which are reserved to it and the respective delegated authorities of its committees and
the executive directors.

The Group has a clear organisational structure and well established reporting and control disciplines. Managers of operating units assume
responsibility for and exercise a high degree of autonomy in running day-to-day trading activities. They do this within a framework of clear
rules and policies regarding business conduct, approval of proposals for investment and material changes in operations which were refreshed
by the Board and reissued to senior management during the year.

All operating units prepare forward plans annually which make projections for a period of three years. These plans are reviewed in detail by
executive directors and consolidated for review by the Board. Performance against forecast is continuously monitored by the executive
directors, reviewed at monthly meetings of the Executive Committee and on a quarterly basis by the Board. Minimum standards for
accounting systems and controls, which are documented and monitored, are promulgated throughout the Group. Certified quarterly reports
are required from senior executives of operating units, confirming compliance with Group standards. There is also a central internal audit
function, IMI Assurance Department, which operates a rolling programme of internal assurance reporting and reviews. These include on site
reviews of selected operating units which are carried out by the IMI Assurance Department and co-ordinated with the divisional financial
management review processes and external audit. Additionally, visits to operations are carried out by senior Group finance personnel in
conjunction with the external auditor.

Control processes are dynamic and continuous improvements are made to adapt them to the changing risk profile of operations and
whenever weakness in the internal control system is identified appropriate remedial action is taken.

Capital investments are subject to a clear process for investment appraisal, authorisation and post-investment review, with major investment
proposals referred for consideration by the Executive Committee or the Board, as appropriate, according to their materiality. In addition, the
Executive Committee regularly reviews the operation of corporate policies and controls in relation to treasury activities, environmental issues,
health and safety, human resources, ethical trading, taxation, insurance, legal and regulatory compliance. Reports are made to the Board at 
least annually and more often, as appropriate, to keep the Board informed and enable it to consider internal control issues and developments.

Through the procedures outlined above the Board has considered all significant aspects of internal control for the year 2005 and up to the
date of this Annual Report. The Board believes that the Group’s system of internal control, which is designed to manage rather than eliminate
risk, provides reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

By order of the Board

John O’Shea
Company Secretary
6 March 2006
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Remuneration Committee 
The members of the Remuneration Committee during the year were Mr K S Beeston (joined 8 March 2005 and became Chairman from 5 April
2005), Mr J W Leng (Chairman of the committee until 5 April 2005 and member until 13 May 2005), Mr T M Gateley and Mr L Browne. All of the
foregoing were regarded by the Board as independent non-executive directors. The committee consulted the Company’s Chairman on
remuneration matters generally and the Chief Executive, Mr M J Lamb, regarding the remuneration of the other executive directors and senior
managers. It also received the advice and services of the Finance Director, Mr T J Slack, the Group Pensions Manager, Mr P Flanagan, and the
Company Secretary, Mr J O’Shea, who acted as secretary to the committee. Deloitte & Touche LLP was engaged by the committee to provide
advice on directors’ remuneration to the committee and played a central advisory role in relation to a review of incentive arrangements and
pensions carried out by the committee. Deloitte & Touche LLP also attended certain meetings at the request of the committee. During the
year Deloitte & Touche LLP also provided financial and tax consulting services to the Company. Watson Wyatt LLP was engaged by the
committee to report on the impact of the government’s proposed changes to the tax regime for occupational pensions. Watson Wyatt LLP are
the actuaries and administrators to the Company’s main UK pension fund and also provide pensions advice to the Company.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration and terms of appointment 
The remuneration of the non-executive directors is determined, after reference to external benchmarks, by the Chairman and the executive
directors. The policy on non-executive remuneration is to pay an appropriate level on a comparative basis for their time and work on 
the Board and its committees. They do not participate in any bonus or employee share schemes of the Company and no part of their
remuneration is conditional upon the performance of the Company.

The Board has established a shareholding guideline for non-executive directors, each of whom is encouraged to build up a holding of at least
7,500 shares, or 10,000 shares in the case of the Chairman, within twelve months of appointment. The Chairman and Mr T M Gateley already
hold the relevant number of shares and all of the other persons who were non-executive directors at the year end held at least 3,000 shares.
Mr K S Beeston and Mr L Browne held 3,000 and just over 5,000 shares, respectively, at the year end and intend to achieve the target holding
during 2006.

The normal period for initial appointment and first renewal is three years. The appointment of the Chairman runs for an initial three year 
term. Appointments are made under a letter of agreement subject to retirement by rotation and removal under the Company’s articles 
of association. There are no provisions for the Company to give notice or pay compensation in relation to the early termination of the
appointment of the Chairman or any non-executive director. There is a provision in non-executive appointment letters to the effect that a 
non-executive director is normally expected to give one month’s prior notice of termination to the Company. The dates and unexpired terms
of the letters of appointment for the non-executive directors, which are available for inspection at the annual general meeting and at the
Company’s registered office, are as follows:

Date of letter of appointment Unexpired term as at 31 December 2005

Mr N B M Askew 28.04.05 2 years 4 months   

Mr K S Beeston 07.03.05 2 years 2 months    

Mr L Browne 16.12.04 2 years  

Mr T M Gateley 16.12.04 10 months

Executive directors’ remuneration and terms of appointment 
Statement of policy
The Company aims to ensure that remuneration generally and incentives in particular provide strong links between individual performance
and shareholder interests. The remuneration policy also recognises that the Company operates in global and highly competitive markets with
over three-quarters of its continuing activities outside the UK.

The policy is to provide competitive remuneration packages to attract, motivate, reward and retain executives of the calibre required, and 
to align their interests with those of shareholders by relating a significant element of the remuneration package to specific performance
measures.

The Remuneration Committee considers it to be important to maintain the flexibility to respond to individual circumstances. However, its
normal approach has been to pay salaries within appropriate market competitive ranges, combined with realistic potentials for above market
total compensation if performance is outstanding. Remuneration comprises basic salaries, annual performance bonuses and benefits in kind,
pension arrangements and participation in a deferred bonus plan and a performance share plan.
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In setting the remuneration of each executive director, the Remuneration Committee takes into account their role and responsibilities, skills and
individual performance and makes reference to market rates as evidenced by published studies and comparisons with international UK-based
groups of a similar size and complexity. In this connection the committee considered market trend data prepared by Deloitte & Touche LLP.
The committee uses such data with caution in view of the risk of an upward ratchet of remuneration levels. It also has regard to pay and
conditions of employees throughout the Group.

During 2005 the committee completed a review of remuneration policy and proposals for new long term incentive arrangements were
approved by shareholders at the 2005 annual general meeting. The new arrangements include a performance share plan and a deferred
bonus plan. The committee believes that these incentive arrangements provide strong alignment with the long term business strategy and
shareholders’ interests as the Company enters a significant new phase in its development and growth.

The aggregate performance based remuneration under the annual bonus arrangements and the long-term incentive arrangements
mentioned above represents as a percentage of salary, at the maximum level, 287% for the Chief Executive and 275% for the other executive
directors (assuming full reinvestment of annual bonuses in the deferred bonus plan, these percentages would increase to 325% and 300%
respectively).

The policy of the committee is to set performance conditions which are both stretching and challenging but also reasonably attainable in the
environment in which the Company is then operating.

Consistent with the policy on service contracts, the executive directors, Mr M J Lamb, Mr T J Slack, Mr D C Nicholas and Mr W R Whitney, have
rolling service contracts subject to termination on one year’s notice by the Company or the executive. All such contracts allow the Company
to elect to make payment in lieu of notice but do not include any other specific provision for compensation payable upon early termination.
It is the policy of the Remuneration Committee to limit any compensation which might be paid in the event of early termination of an
executive director’s contract to the legal minima, taking into account mitigation and other relevant factors.

The dates of the contracts and period to normal retirement age for those serving as executive directors during the year are as follows:

Date  Date of Date of service Notice period Period to normal 
joined appointment contract retirement age as
Group to Board at 31 December 2005

Mr M J Lamb 31.10.86 18.07.96 01.02.99 12 months 15 years

Mr T J Slack 05.01.76 01.08.97 01.02.99 12 months 7 months

Mr D C Nicholas 08.03.04 08.03.04 08.03.04 12 months 4 years

Mr W R Whitney 03.08.87 01.03.04 01.03.04 12 months 3 years 10 months

Annual bonus
Executive directors are eligible to receive annual performance bonuses. Maximum bonus is only payable if the challenging targets set by 
the Remuneration Committee are met. As disclosed last year, the bonus maximum for 2005 was increased from 60% to 100% of salary in
conjunction with the introduction of the new incentive arrangements, which were approved by shareholders at the 2005 AGM. For 2005 the
annual bonus targets related to profit and cash generation. For 2006, bonus targets will relate to profit, working capital and sales growth.

The executive directors achieved the stretching profit and cash generation targets in full for 2005 and they will therefore each receive bonuses
in respect of 2005 of 100% (2004: 57.5%), of which half must be deferred into the Deferred Bonus Plan. Annual bonuses are  non-pensionable
in the case of all executive directors.

The auditor reviewed the computation of the annual bonus payments and confirmed to the committee that it was calculated correctly.

Long term incentive arrangements
The Deferred Bonus Plan ("DBP") runs in conjunction with the annual bonus plan for executive directors and was approved by shareholders 
at the 2005 annual general meeting following consultation with major shareholders and institutional investor representative bodies.

Under the DBP, one half of each executive director's  earned annual bonus (more if they wish) will be mandatorily deferred for three years and
delivered in shares in the Company ("Deferred Shares"). The executive may also elect to voluntarily defer all or part of the remaining 50%, and
again receive Deferred Shares. Additional shares, in the form of a matching award, may be earned (to a maximum of 100% of the number of
Deferred Shares or 125% for the Chief Executive) if stretching performance conditions are met by the Company over the three year deferral
period. It is intended that the first awards, to be made in 2006, will be subject to economic profit based performance conditions. Economic
profit was chosen as the performance measure because it combines profitability with return on capital in a single measure and is being used
across the Group as a management decision-making tool. The economic profit performance conditions for any awards made in 2006 will be
disclosed in next year's remuneration report.
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The first awards under the Performance Share Plan ("PSP") were made in 2005 and provide share based awards worth up to the normal policy
maximum of 100% of annual salary. The closing mid-market share price on the date of award was 388.67p. Details of the awards are contained
in the table of Directors’ Awards on page 45. The vesting of awards is subject to the satisfaction of stretching performance conditions over a
three year period. For awards granted in 2005, one half is subject to earnings per share ("EPS") performance conditions and the other to
comparative total shareholder return ("TSR") with a financial underpin (as further explained below).

For PSP awards granted in 2005,TSR performance is measured against a comparator group over a three-year period. TSR is well understood
and accepted as a performance measure for long term incentives and links rewards to shareholder value.

The comparator group for the relative TSR was chosen by reference to the companies' size, internationality and industry sector relative to IMI
and comprises:

� Aga Foodservice � BBA Group � Bodycote
� Cobham � Cookson Group � Enodis
� FKI � Halma � Hanson
� Johnson Matthey � Meggitt � Morgan Crucible
� Pilkington � Rexam � Rotork
� Spirax-Sarco � Tomkins � Weir Group
� Wolseley

If, at the end of the three-year period, the Company is ranked median in the comparator group, then 30% of the TSR-dependant awards will
vest. If the Company is ranked at the point between median and upper quartile (i.e. at the 62.5th percentile), 55% of the TSR-dependant
awards will vest. If the Company is ranked in the upper quartile (top 25%) of the comparator group, then the TSR-dependant awards will vest
in full. Awards will vest on a straight line basis if the Company's TSR performance is between these points. If the Company's TSR performance
is below the median, the TSR dependant awards will lapse without retesting.

To ensure that TSR improvement reflects improvement in the underlying performance of the Company the Remuneration Committee also
imposed a financial underpin. No PSP awards will vest unless the compound annual earnings per share growth exceeds inflation (measured
against the Retail Price Index, or "RPI") by at least 3% per annum during the three-year performance period.

The performance condition for the second 50% of the 2005 PSP awards was based on the Company's compound annual earnings per share
growth above RPI over a three-year period. EPS was chosen as an appropriate measure which rewards absolute growth in underlying earnings
and because the committee believed it works well in combination with TSR which is a comparative measure. The Remuneration Committee
sets the EPS targets in respect of each annual award at the level it considers appropriately stretching given the conditions in which the
Company is operating.

In respect of the EPS-dependent element of the 2005 PSP award, 30% will vest if compound annual earnings per share growth exceeds RPI by
3%. If the Company's compound annual earnings per share growth is 15% higher than RPI, then the EPS-dependant awards will vest in full.
Awards will vest on a straight line basis if the Company's EPS growth is between these points. Awards lapse without retesting as to this
element (and also the TSR-dependant portion) if EPS growth is below RPI plus 3%. The EPS targets for the 2005 PSP awards were set to exclude
the impact of the Polypipe Group which was sold during 2005.

During the transition from UK GAAP to IFRS, to the extent that any material adjustments are considered appropriate to ensure a like for like
comparison, these will be reviewed and agreed by the auditor.

Executive directors who are eligible to participate in the DBP and the PSP, will be encouraged to acquire and maintain a shareholding in the
Company with a value equal to 100% of their annual salary, by June 2008. The Chief Executive and Finance Director both attained the required
holdings during the year.

Legacy incentive arrangements
Expired share option schemes
Executive share options were last awarded to executive directors in 2004 under the Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme which expired in
May 2005.

Inland Revenue Approved and Unapproved Options granted under the Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme before September 2001
became exercisable during the year for the first time due to growth in EPS for the previous three years being greater than RPI plus 6%.

Options granted under this scheme after September 2001 were subject to stretching tiered performance conditions related to growth in
earnings per share above inflation over a fixed period of three financial years as further described below.

For options granted over shares representing one times salary, vesting required growth in earnings per share of at least 6% above the rate of
increase in the RPI over a three year performance period. This hurdle doubled to 12% growth above RPI for awards representing between one
and two times salary, and the hurdle was 24% for awards of between two and three times salary. The Remuneration Committee had a policy of
awarding annual share option grants to executive directors of up to two times salary to executive directors and up  to three times salary for the
Chief Executive. Details of directors' share options are set out on page 45.
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Options were priced at full market value without discount. There is no retesting of performance conditions and options will therefore lapse if
applicable performance conditions are not met in the relevant three year performance period. All options granted in 2003 will become
exercisable in 2006 as, when measured on a like for like basis, EPS growth over the three year performance period ending 31 December 2005
was in excess of RPI plus 24%.

The method adopted to assess whether performance conditions attached to options under the Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme were
satisfied by reference to earnings per share for the three years ended 31 December 2005, was based on IFRS reported adjusted earnings per
share for 2005 including discontinued businesses. The auditor reviewed the earnings per share computation and confirmed to the committee
that the adjustments made were fair and reasonable.

Legacy long term incentive plan (“LTIP”)
The last LTIP awards were made to executive directors in 2005 as part of the transition to the new long term incentive arrangements. The LTIP
allowed cash awards to senior executives, including executive directors, up to a maximum potential value of 50% of salary for each year of
participation. The policy was to make an annual LTIP award to each executive director subject to performance conditions related to the
economic profit of the Group as a whole over a period of three years. As with executive share options, awards lapse without retesting if
targets are not met in the relevant three year period.

Economic profit is based on the net operating profit after tax of the Group derived from the audited financial statements and adjusted for
acquisition goodwill. The published results based on UK GAAP were used as the reference point each year except that IFRS was adopted for
2005.

At the end of the performance period, the net of tax value of any LTIP payments earned by eligible executive directors is to be invested in
market purchases of the Company’s ordinary shares pursuant to a deferred share plan. Such share purchases are made through an employee
trust and, if held for a further three year period, an executive director will receive a matching award of one additional share for every four.
The first LTIP awards to executive directors lapsed in 2003 because economic profit in the performance period was £13m below the level
required for any vesting to occur. Executive director LTIP awards maturing in 2004 also lapsed because economic profit during the three year
performance period was £4m below the minimum required for any vesting to occur (however Mr W R Whitney held an LTIP award granted
prior to his appointment as an executive director in respect of which pro-rata vesting was achieved by reference to local targets for Retail
Dispense). The LTIP awards maturing in 2005 will result in vesting worth 36% of 2005 salary against a target maximum economic profit of
£82m (save that vesting will be 24% of salary for Mr W R Whitney, whose service in 2003 was targeted in respect of his Retail Dispense
responsibilities prior to appointment as an executive director and no 2003 awards were made to Mr D C Nicholas, whose service commenced
in 2004).

SAYE plan 
The Company operates an Inland Revenue approved savings-related share option scheme which is open to the majority of the Group’s UK
employees, including the UK-based executive directors, and allows the grant of options to all participants at a discount of up to 20 per cent
below the market price. Such schemes are not subject to performance conditions and offer tax incentives to encourage employees to use
their own money to purchase shares in their employer’s business or group.

All Employee Share Ownership Plan
The UK-based executive directors also participate in an All Employee Share Ownership Plan which is open to the majority of the Group’s UK
employees. In May 2006 shares to a value equal to the lesser of £3,000 and 1.2% of each participant’s basic salary will be acquired at market
value by the trustee of the plan in respect of their participation during 2005. The plan is not operated subject to specific performance
conditions but the level of shares awarded to participating employees is set taking into account performance, in particular that of the UK
operations of the Group. Each of the UK-based executive directors also participates in the plan by making the maximum contribution from
their salary towards partnership shares under the plan. Up to two matching shares may be awarded for every one partnership share acquired
under the plan although the policy to date has been not to award any matching shares.

Save as indicated below, the remainder of this report has been audited.

Pension entitlement 
UK-based executive directors participate in the IMI Pension Fund. Their normal retirement age under the Fund is 60, although they may elect
to retire and receive a pension at any time after age 57 without a discount. On death a dependant’s pension is provided equal to two-thirds of
the member’s pension. If death occurs in the first five years of retirement a lump sum is also paid equal to the balance of five years pension
payments. Pensions in payment, in excess of any guaranteed minimum pension, are increased each year in line with price inflation up to a
maximum of 5%, in respect of pension built up before 1 January 2006, and 2.5% in respect of pension built up after 1 January 2006.

Mr D C Nicholas was also a member of an unfunded unapproved defined contribution arrangement during the year. Notional contributions of
£47,513 were credited to Mr D C Nicholas in the period 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2005 (2004 : £37,147) and the notional value of the
accumulated contributions as at 31 December 2005 was £88,152 (2004: £37,819).

With effect from April 2006 the taxation arrangements for occupational pension schemes in the UK is changing. As a result of this the
Remuneration Committee has decided to provide UK-based executive directors with the choice of remaining in the UK scheme for future
service or opting out and either building up benefits in a new employer-financed defined benefits retirement scheme or receiving a cash
allowance instead of pension benefits.
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These alternative arrangements have been devised on the basis that they are broadly cost neutral to the Company, whilst also recognising the
need to honour the Company’s previous commitment to defined benefit arrangements for serving executives. The policy regarding new
appointments will be flexible to take account of the individual position, the cost of pension arrangements to the Company, including in
particular the cost of defined benefits, and the alternative forms of pension provision.

Mr Whitney is a USA-based executive director and during the year was a member of two arrangements in the USA. The first was a defined
contribution arrangement, the Savings Investment Plan. In the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2005 employer contributions of
£4,621 were made to this plan (2004: £4,030). The second was a defined benefit arrangement, the IMI Americas Supplemental Executive
Retirement Plan. His pension payable from age 60 will be 60% of basic salary less any pension from the employer’s contributions to the
defined contribution plan and an amount representing the Social Security Primary Insurance payable. There are no post retirement increases
provided under the plan. No dependant’s pension is payable on death after retirement unless Mr Whitney opts for a reduced members
pension with such an attaching dependant’s pension at least one year prior to retirement. On death prior to retirement a dependant's
pension, equal to the member's pension, is payable.

Details of the pension benefits earned in the IMI Pension Fund or the IMI Americas Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan are summarised 
in the following table:

Name Age at Pensionable Accrued Increase Increase Transfer Transfer Difference Value of
31.12.05 service pension in accrued in pension value of value of between increase

to 31.12.05 at pension over the accrued accrued transfer in accrued
31.12.05 over the year pension pension values at pension at

year (net of at at 31.12.04 31.12.05 
inflation) 31.12.05 31.12.04 and (net of 

31.12.05 inflation)

£000 pa £000 pa £000 pa £000 £000 £000 £000

M J Lamb 45 19 219 25 19 2,295 1,919 376 199

T J Slack 59 30 231 19 12 5,053 4,508 545 263

D C Nicholas 56 2 6 3 3 139 55 84 65

W R Whitney 56 18 103 49 47 1,006 470 536 459

The accrued pension benefits at the end of the year represent the annual deferred pension to which each executive director would have been
entitled had he left service at the end of the year. This is based on completed pensionable service and pensionable earnings at the relevant
date. The increase in the accrued pension during the year reflects the completion of a further year’s pensionable service and the increase in
pensionable earnings, both before and after inflation. During 2005 there have been no changes to pension benefit arrangements in place at
the start of the year. The above figures exclude any benefits from the executive directors' voluntary contributions.

Transfer values calculated in accordance with the guidance note GN11 published by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries are also shown in
the table. A transfer value is the estimated capital value of the future pension payments in retirement.

Under the method and assumptions used by the Company to account for the costs associated with its defined benefit pension schemes 
(see note 20), the aggregate value of the accrued benefits as at 31 December 2005 for the executive directors was £13.11 million 
(2004: £9.77 million).
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Summary of directors’ remuneration

Sums by 
way of 

Salary taxable
and Non-cash expense LTIP Total Total
fees benefits allowances Bonus Payment 2005 2004

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-executive

G J Allen 1 - - - - - - 195

N B M Askew 111 - - - - 111 -

K S Beeston 36 - - - - 36 -

L Browne 45 - - - - 45 -

T M Gateley 50 - - - - 50 35

J W Leng 2 64 - - - - 64 35

B L Staples 3 - - - - - - 13

Executive

M J Lamb 541 1 20 541 195 1,298 811

D C Nicholas 295 1 19 295 - 610 385

T J Slack 326 26 - 326 117 795 516

W R Whitney 289 10 - 289 69 657 406

R B Pointon 4 - - - - - - 111

Total 1,757 38 39 1,451 381 3,666

Total 2004 2,507

1 Mr Allen retired from office with effect from 31 December 2004 
2 Mr Leng retired from office with effect from 13 May 2005
3 Mr Staples retired from office with effect from 14 May 2004
4 Mr Pointon retired from office with effect from 31 March 2004

Half of the Bonus and all of the LTIP payments shown above must be invested in the relevant share matching arrangement (as described
above) in the case of all eligible executive directors.

Remuneration shown above as salaries for non-executive directors includes fees of £134,166 (2004: £72,000). No compensation for loss of
office was paid to or receivable by any director in 2005.

Benefits in kind provided to executive directors consist of the provision of a fully expensed motor car for all except Mr M J Lamb and 
Mr D C Nicholas, who elected for a cash alternative scheme, and private health care arrangements.

External appointments
Executive directors may accept one external appointment with the consent of the Board, and are normally allowed to retain fees from 
external non-executive directorships. Currently, Mr M J Lamb is a non-executive director of Spectris plc, which paid him remuneration of
£35,000 in 2005.
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Directors‘ awards under legacy long term incentive plan 
Details of entitlements under the long term incentive plan of persons who were directors during the year are set out below.

At 1 January 2005

(a) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2004 
(lapsed in March 2005) 

(b) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2005 

(c) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2006 

M J Lamb

Final awards made during 2005

up to 50% of salary potentially
vesting in respect of the three 
year performance period ending 
31 December 2007 

At 31 December 2005 

(a) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting 
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2005* 

(b) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting 
in respect of the three year  performance
period ending 31 December 2006 

(c) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting 
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2007 

(a) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2004 
(lapsed in March 2005) 

(b) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2005 

(c) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2006  

T J Slack up to 50% if salary potentially 
vesting in respect of the three 
year performance period ending 
31 December 2007 

up to 50% of salary potentially vesting in
respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2006 

D C Nicholas up to 50% of salary potentially 
vesting in respect of the three 
year performance period ending 
31 December 2007 

(a) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting 
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2006

(b) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2007

(a) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2004 
(lapsed in March 2005 as regards service 
as an executive director) 

(b) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2005

(c)  up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2006

W R Whitney up to 50% if salary potentially 
vesting in respect of the three 
year performance period ending
31 December 2007 

(a) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting 
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2005* 

(b) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2006 

(c)  up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2007 

*Based on performance measured to 31 December 2005 these awards will vest at 36% of 2005 salary (24% for Mr W R Whitney as noted on page
41).

Awards potentially vest in March of the year following the performance period end date shown above. References in the above table to salary
are to annual salary for the final year of the relevant performance period. If and when any award vests in future years, the net amount payable
to eligible executive directors will be used to purchase shares at the market prices that then apply pursuant to the linked deferred share plan.

Directors’ share awards 
Options were granted during 2005 under the Performance Share Plan (although for Mr W R Whitney, a US-based executive director the award
was structured as a deferred share award rather than a nil cost option). Since 2004 no executive share options have been granted to executive
directors under the IMI Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme. Relevant details are shown below in the table of share options and share
awards.

Share awards/options were granted under the following schemes:
SAYE – IMI Savings-Related Share Option Schemes ESOS 1985 – IMI Executive Share Option (1985) Scheme
ESOS 1995 – IMI Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme PSP – Performance Share Plan

(a) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2005* 

(b) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2006 

(c) up to 50% of salary potentially vesting
in respect of the three year performance
period ending 31 December 2007 

continued
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Directors’ share awards

Director Scheme Perf- Date of Exercise As at Granted Exercised Lapsed As at Date Expiry Date of Mid Notional
orm- grant/ price 1 Jan 2005 / vested 2005 31 Dec from which date exercise market gain £
ance award 2005 2005 2005 exercisable/ price at

cond- vesting date date of
ition exercise

M J Lamb SAYE a) 07.04.98 365.0p 3,013 3,013 Nil 01.07.05 31.12.05 16.09.05 433.5p 2,064
06.04.99 254.0p 1,707 1,707 01.08.06 31.01.07
09.04.01 201.0p 1,679 1,679 01.07.06 31.12.06
08.04.03 201.0p 4,980 4,980 01.08.10 31.01.11
06.04.04 289.0p 1,335 1,335 01.08.09 31.01.10

ESOS b) 11.04.95 301.3p 1,500 1,500 Nil 11.04.98 11.04.05 11.03.05 425.0p 1,856
1985
ESOS c) 25.03.98 455.1p 50,000 50,000 Nil 25.03.01 25.03.05
1995 c) 24.03.99 284.6p 50,000 50,000 Nil 24.03.02 24.03.09 11.03.05 425.0p 70,200

c) 22.03.00 226.6p 35,000 35,000 Nil 22.03.03 22.03.10 11.03.05 425.0p 69,440
c) 03.04.01 248.4p 100,000 100,000 Nil 03.04.04 03.04.11 11.03.05 425.0p 176,600
d) 25.09.02 274.0p 310,000 310,000 Nil 25.09.05 25.09.12 27.09.05 429.0p 480,500
d) 02.04.03 256.9p 418,500 418,500 02.04.06 02.04.13
d) 24.03.04 358.0p 418,000 418,000 24.03.07 24.03.14

PSP e) 13.05.05 388.67p Nil 139,100 139,100 13.05.08 13.05.15
T J Slack SAYE a) 13.04.00 201.0p 1,208 1,208 Nil 01.07.05 31.12.05 27.09.05 429.0p 2,754

09.04.01 201.0p 1,477 1,477 01.07.06 31.12.06
08.04.02 244.0p 467 467 Nil 01.08.05 31.01.06 27.09.05 429.0p 864
08.04.03 201.0p 865 865 01.08.06 31.01.07

ESOS b) 11.04.95 301.3p 15,000 15,000 Nil 11.04.98 11.04.05 22.03.05 412.25p 16,643
1985
ESOS c) 25.03.98 455.1p 35,000 35,000 Nil 25.03.01 25.03.05
1995 c) 24.03.99 284.6p 50,000 50,000 Nil 24.03.02 24.03.09 18.03.05 417.25p 66,325

c) 22.03.00 226.6p 45,000 45,000 Nil 22.03.03 22.03.10 31.03.05 410.5p 82,755
c) 03.04.01 248.4p 80,000 80,000 Nil 03.04.04 03.04.11 31.03.05 410.5p 129,680
d) 25.09.02 274.0p 145,000 145,000 Nil 25.09.05 25.09.12 27.09.05 429.0p 224,750
d) 02.04.03 256.9p 210,000 210,000 02.04.06 02.04.13
d) 24.03.04 358.0p 173,000 173,000 24.03.07 24.03.14

PSP e) 13.05.05 388.67p Nil 83,900 83,900 13.05.08 13.05.15
D C ESOS d) 24.03.04 358.0p 156,000 156,000 24.03.07 24.03.14
Nicholas 1995

PSP e) 13.05.05 388.67p Nil 75,800 75,800 13.05.08 13.05.15
W R ESOS c) 24.03.99 284.6p 5,000 5,000 Nil 24.03.02 24.03.09 10.03.05 427.0p 7,120
Whitney 1995 c) 22.03.00 226.6p 7,500 7,500 Nil 22.03.03 22.03.10 10.03.05 427.0p 15,030

c) 03.04.01 248.4p 40,000 40,000 Nil 03.04.04 03.04.11 10.03.05 427.0p 71,440
c) 03.04.02 309.1p 30,000 30,000 Nil 03.04.05 03.04.12 13.06.05 417.0p 32,370
c) 02.04.03 256.9p 55,000 55,000 02.04.06 02.04.13
d) 24.03.04 358.0p 156,000 156,000 24.03.07 24.03.14

PSP e) 13.05.05 388.67p Nil 69,000 69,000 13.05.08 13.05.15

a) No performance conditions are attached to the SAYE options
b) No performance conditions are attached to the 1985 Share Option Scheme
c) EPS – growth of 6% above RPI
d) EPS – growth of 6%, 12% and 24% above RPI, respectively, for awards worth one, two and three times salary at option price.
e) 50% of award based on comparative TSR (with an EPS underpin) with vesting at median (30% vests) to upper quartile (full vesting) and
50% based on EPS growth of between 3% (30% vests) to 15% (full vesting) above RPI.
Notional gains on share options exercised shown in the table above are based on the mid-market price at the date of exercise.
The closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares at 30 December 2005 was 503p per share and the price range during the year was 386p
to 503p.
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The graph below compares the Company’s total shareholder return over the five years ended 31 December 2005 with that for the FTSE All
Share Index and the FTSE Engineering and Machinery Sector Index. The  FTSE Engineering  and Machinery Sector Index was chosen as a
comparator index because it offered a reasonable reflection upon the relative performance of the Company and is used as one of the
performance measures for the purpose of annual bonuses. The FTSE All Share Index was chosen as it is a relevant broad equity market index.
Over the past five years the IMI share price has outperformed the FTSE Engineering and Machinery Sector Index by 122% and the FTSE All
Share Index by 58%. Over the same period total shareholder return has outperformed the FTSE Engineering and Machinery Sector Index by
145% and the FTSE All Share Index by 66%.

Approved by the Board on 6 March 2006 and signed on its behalf by:

Kevin S Beeston Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

IMI - Net TSR

FTSE Eng & Machinery - Net TSR

FTSE All Share - Net TSR

Total shareholder return performance graph  This section of this report is not required to be audited.

Directors' interests and shareholding guidelines 
All of the executive directors hold interests in the ordinary shares of the Company (as detailed below) and, in line with a policy adopted in
2005, all are expected to build holdings equivalent in value to one year’s salary by June 2008. All of the persons who were non-executive
directors at the year end held shares in the Company and during 2005 the Board set a shareholding guideline as set out on page 38 which it
encourages non-executive directors to meet within twelve months of appointment.

The interests (all being beneficial) of the directors and their families in the share capital of the Company are shown below:

Directors Shares held Interest at Interest at 
during 31.12.2005 01.01.2005
2005 or date of or date of 

retirement appointment

N B M Askew Ordinary shares 10,000 nil
K S Beeston Ordinary shares 3,000 nil
L Browne Ordinary shares 5,008 nil
T M Gateley Ordinary shares 7,500 3,000
M J Lamb Ordinary shares 114,814 39,758
J W Leng Ordinary shares 10,000* 10,000
D C Nicholas Ordinary shares 11,986 3,882
T J Slack Ordinary shares 82,892 30,402
W R Whitney Ordinary shares 25,061 nil

* Mr J W Leng retired as a non-executive director on 13 May 2005.

During the period 31 December 2005 to 6 March 2006 there were no changes in the interests of any current director from those shown
save for: purchases within the IMI All Employee Share Ownership Plan on 10 January 2006 of 25 shares on behalf of each of Mr M J Lamb,
Mr D C Nicholas and Mr T J Slack, in each case at 494.5p per share, and on 14 February 2006 of 24 shares on behalf of each of 
Mr M J Lamb, Mr D C Nicholas and Mr T J Slack at 514.25p per share.

continued
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independent auditor’s report

We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial statements (the “financial statements”) of IMI plc on pages 48 to 93.
These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information 
in the directors’ remuneration report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the annual report and the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and for preparing the Parent Company financial statements and
the directors’ remuneration report in accordance with applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities on page 33.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited in accordance with
relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and
the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985
and whether, in addition, the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the directors’ report is not consistent with the financial statements, if the Company has not kept
proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information
specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the corporate governance statement on page 34 reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the
2003 FRC Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not.
We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the annual report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements.
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the
part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made
by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and
Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to
provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration
report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion
we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements, and the part of the directors’
remuneration report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

� the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, of the state of the Group’s affairs
as at 31 December 2005 and of its profit for the year then ended;

� the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation;

� the Parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, of
the state of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2005; and

� the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

KPMG Audit Plc, Birmingham
Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor
6 March 2006
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consolidated income statement

Continuing Discontinued Total Continuing Discontinued Total

2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004

Notes £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 3,4,5,6 1,341 237 1,578 1,239 372 1,611

Operating profit before 
intangible amortisation 3,4,5 159.5 18.8 178.3 137.2 27.2 164.4

Intangible amortisation (5.6) - (5.6) (5.8) - (5.8)

Operating profit 3,4,5,6 153.9 18.8 172.7 131.4 27.2 158.6

European Commission fine* - - - - (33.1) (33.1)

Profit/(loss) before 
financing costs 153.9 18.8 172.7 131.4 (5.9) 125.5

Financial income 7 16.2 16.2 14.0 14.0
Financial expenses 7 (19.0) (19.0) (17.3) (17.3)

Profit/(loss) before tax

Before exceptional items and 
intangible amortisation 156.7 18.8 175.5 133.9 27.2 161.1

European Commission fine* - - - - (33.1) (33.1)

Intangible amortisation (5.6) - (5.6) (5.8) - (5.8)

Total 151.1 18.8 169.9 128.1 (5.9) 122.2

UK taxation 9 (2.5) (5.7) (8.2) (1.2) (8.5) (9.7)
Overseas taxation 9 (45.9) (0.3) (46.2) (43.0) (0.2) (43.2)

Profit/(loss) after tax before 
loss on disposal 102.7 12.8 115.5 83.9 (14.6) 69.3

Loss after tax on disposal 
and associated closure costs 5 - (99.3) (99.3) - - -

Total profit/(loss) for the period 102.7 (86.5) 16.2 83.9 (14.6) 69.3

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the parent 13.5 67.5
Minority interest 2.7 1.8

Total profit for the period 16.2 69.3

Earnings per share 10
Basic earnings/(loss) per share 28.6p (24.7p) 3.9p 23.2p (4.1p) 19.1p

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 28.4p (24.6p) 3.8p 23.0p (4.1p) 18.9p

*relating to businesses disposed of in 2002
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At 31 December 2005

consolidated balance sheet

2005 2004

Notes £m £m

Assets
Intangible assets 12 185.8 333.4
Property, plant and equipment 13 192.1 279.7
Deferred tax assets 14 75.5 61.7

Total non-current assets 453.4 674.8

Inventories 15 205.6 248.1
Trade and other receivables 16 301.8 305.6
Current tax 18.6 8.6
Investments 13.0 8.0
Cash and cash equivalents 188.9 120.7

Total current assets 727.9 691.0

Total assets 1,181.3 1,365.8

Liabilities
Bank overdraft (6.9) (5.3)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 17 (44.4) (55.2)
Exceptional payables - European Commission fine - (31.3) 
Current tax (27.1) (31.4)
Trade and other payables 18 (301.9) (331.5)

Total current liabilities (380.3) (454.7)

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 17 (148.2) (135.9)
Employee benefits 20 (172.8) (142.4) 
Provisions 21 (34.1) (41.3)
Deferred tax liabilities 14 (4.4) (8.3) 
Other payables (20.4) (28.4)

Total non-current liabilities (379.9) (356.3)

Total liabilities (760.2) (811.0)

Net assets 421.1 554.8

Equity 22
Issued capital 89.6 88.7
Share premium 149.4 139.9
Other reserves 7.3 (0.6)
Retained earnings 171.3 322.8

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the parent 417.6 550.8
Minority interest 3.5 4.0

Total equity 421.1 554.8

Approved by the Board of Directors on 6 March 2006 and signed on its behalf by:

Norman B M Askew  Chairman
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consolidated statement of cash flows

2005 2004
Note £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from the operations 23 212.3 239.4
Interest paid (18.2) (17.4)
Income taxes paid (54.2) (52.3)

Net cash from operating activities 139.9 169.7

Additional pension scheme funding (15.6) -
European Commission fine (31.3) -

93.0 169.7

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  6.8 4.0
(Purchase of )/proceeds from sale of investments (1.1) 0.2
Interest received 10.0 8.2
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired (63.6) (20.9)
Disposal of subsidiary 209.0 -
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (48.7) (50.8)
Capitalised development expenditure (5.2) (2.8)

Net cash from investing activities 107.2 (62.1)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issue of share capital 10.4 3.8
Purchase of own shares (72.6) -
Repayment of borrowings (14.0) (9.8)
Dividends paid to minorities (1.6) (1.3)
Dividends paid (59.4) (55.9)

Net cash from financing activities (137.2) (63.2)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 63.0 44.4
Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 115.4 66.9
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 3.6 4.1

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 23 182.0 115.4

Reconciliation of net cash to movement in net borrowings
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 63.0 44.4
Repayments of borrowings 14.0 9.8

Cash inflow 77.0 54.2
Currency translation differences (11.9) 14.5

Movement in net borrowings in the period 65.1 68.7
Net borrowings at the start of the period (75.7) (144.4)

Net borrowings at the end of the period 23 (10.6) (75.7)

For the year ended 31 December 2005
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2005 2004
£m £m

Shareholders’ equity at start of the period 550.8 534.9

Total recognised income and expense for the period (15.0) 66.3

Dividends paid (59.4) (55.9)
Share based payments (net of deferred tax) 3.4 1.7
Issue of ordinary shares net of costs 10.4 3.8
Purchase of own shares into treasury (72.6) -

(118.2) (50.4)

Shareholders’ equity at end of the period 417.6 550.8

statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

2005 2004
£m £m

Foreign exchange translation differences 5.6 2.3
Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit plans (net of deferred tax) (36.4) 1.0
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial instruments (net of tax) 2.3 (4.5)

Income and expense recognised directly in equity (28.5) (1.2)

Profit for the period 16.2 69.3

Total recognised income and expense for the period (12.3) 68.1

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the parent (15.0) 66.3
Minority interest 2.7 1.8

Total recognised income and expense for the period (12.3) 68.1

consolidated statement 
of recognised income and expense
For the year ended 31 December 2005



52 IMI plc Annual Report 2005

notes to the financial statements

1. Significant accounting policies

IMI plc (the “Company”) is a company domiciled in the United Kingdom. The consolidated financial statements of the Company comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and its interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board.

a) Basis of accounting
The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, rounded to the nearest hundred thousand. They are prepared on the historical
cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value: derivative financial instruments; financial instruments
held for trading; financial instruments classified as available for sale and assets and liabilities identified as hedged items.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

The accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the Group for the purposes of these consolidated financial statements.

b) Basis of consolidation

i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the Company. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intragroup balances and transactions, and any unrealised gains arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

c)   Foreign currencies

i) Foreign currency transactions

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies have been translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at
the balance sheet date. The income statements of overseas subsidiary undertakings are translated at the appropriate average rate of
exchange for the year and the adjustment to year end rates is taken directly to reserves. Foreign exchange differences arising on
translating transactions in the income statement in the year are reflected in profit before taxation. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to sterling at foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the values were determined.

ii) Financial statements of foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated at
foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are recognised directly in
a separate component of equity.

iii) Net investment in foreign operations

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of the opening net assets of foreign subsidiaries, foreign currency loans used for
overseas investment and transactions executed solely for the purpose of hedging foreign currency assets exposure are taken directly to
reserves.

Any differences that have arisen since 1 January 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, are presented as a separate component of equity.

d) Financial instruments and fair value hedging

Financial instruments are recorded initially at fair value at trade date. Subsequent measurement depends on the designation of the 
instrument, as follows:

� Fixed deposits, comprising principally funds held with banks and other financial institutions, and short term borrowings and overdrafts
are classified as loans and receivables and held at amortised cost (after impairment losses).

� Derivatives, comprising interest rate swaps, foreign exchange contracts and options and embedded derivatives, are classified as held for
trading.

� Long term loans are generally held at amortised cost. Where the long term loan is hedged, generally by an interest rate swap, and the
hedge is regarded as effective, the carrying value of the long term loan is adjusted for changes in fair value.
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Changes in the fair value of financial instruments are dealt with as follows:

� Long term loans in formal designated hedge relationships are taken to the income statement to the extent they are effective.

� For assets at fair value through profit or loss and assets held for trading, all changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement.

e) Other hedging   

i) Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in
equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss (for
instance when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the
recognition of a non-financial asset (for example, inventory), or a liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred
from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain
or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the
income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is
immediately transferred to the income statement.

ii) Hedge of monetary assets and liabilities

Where a derivative financial instrument is used to economically hedge the foreign exchange exposure of a recognised monetary asset
or liability, no hedge accounting is applied and any gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the income statement.

iii) Hedge of net investment in foreign operation

Where a foreign currency liability or derivative financial instrument is in a formally designated hedge of a net investment in a foreign
operation, foreign exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign currency liability or derivative financial instrument are
recognised directly in equity to the extent the hedge is effective. Any ineffectiveness arising from net investment hedging is recognised
in the income statement.

f) Intangible assets

i) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisitions from 1 January 2004 is recognised as an intangible asset at the date of acquisition. The asset recognised
is measured as the excess of the consideration paid over the fair value of the net assets acquired and associated costs. On an ongoing
basis the goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses (see accounting policy ‘Impairment’). Fair value adjustments are always
considered to be provisional at the first balance sheet date after acquisition to allow the maximum time to elapse for management to
make a reliable estimate.

Under the Group’s previous accounting policies, which were consistent with UK GAAP, goodwill on acquisitions prior to 1 January 1998
was deducted from reserves in the year of acquisition. In accordance with IFRS3: ‘Business Combinations’ such goodwill continues as a
deduction from reserves and is not recognised in the income statement in the event of disposal of the cash-generating unit to which it
relates.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions after 1 January 1998 was previously capitalised as an intangible asset and amortised on a straight-line
basis over a maximum 20 years. The un-amortised goodwill under UK GAAP at 31 December 2003 became the opening goodwill under
the Group’s transition to IFRS on 1 January 2004.

ii) Research and development

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, is
recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

Expenditure on development activities, whereby research findings are applied to a plan or design for the production of new or
substantially improved products and processes, is capitalised if, and only if, the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources to complete development. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised in the income statement as
an expense as incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (see below) and
impairment losses (see accounting policy ‘Impairment’).
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

iii) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (see below) and impairment
losses (see accounting policy ‘Impairment’). Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised in the income
statement as an expense as incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets other than goodwill

Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis (unless such a basis gives a significant distortion to anticipated
benefit) over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets. Amortisation commences from the date the intangible asset becomes
available for use. The estimated maximum useful lives are as follows:

� Capitalised development costs 5 years

� Other intangible assets Life of the intangible asset

g) Property, plant and equipment

Freehold land and assets in the course of construction are not depreciated.

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation (see below) and impairment losses (see
accounting policy ‘Impairment’).

Where an item of property, plant and equipment comprises major components having different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is calculated so as to write down the cost of assets to residual values over the period of their estimated useful lives within the 
following ranges:

� Freehold buildings 25 to 50 years

� Leasehold land and buildings Period of lease

� Plant and machinery 3 to 20 years

h) Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Plant and
equipment acquired by way of finance lease is stated at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the
minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation (see above) and impairment losses (see accounting
policy ‘Impairment’).

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease
incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the total lease expense.The majority of leasing
transactions entered into by the Group are operating leases.

i) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are stated at their cost less impairment losses (see accounting policy ‘Impairment’).

j) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. In respect of work in progress and finished goods, cost includes all direct
costs of production and the appropriate proportion of production overheads.

k) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash
flows.

l) Impairment

The carrying values of the Group’s assets other than inventories (see accounting policy ‘Inventories’) and deferred tax assets (see accounting
policy ‘Income tax’), are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount
is estimated at each balance sheet date. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

Goodwill was tested for impairment at 1 January 2004, the date of transition to IFRS and is tested annually.
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i) Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of the Group’s receivables is calculated as the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the
original effective interest rate inherent in the asset. Receivables with a short duration are not discounted.

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows generated by the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash
inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

ii) Reversals of impairment

As required by IAS36: ‘Impairment of Assets’, any impairment loss of goodwill is non-reversible. In respect of other assets, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

m) Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are approved by shareholders.

n) Employee benefits 

i) Defined contribution pension plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

ii) Defined benefit pension plans

Obligations under defined benefit plans are measured at discounted present value whilst plan assets are recorded at fair value. The
operating and financing costs of such plans are recognised separately in the income statement; service costs are spread systematically
over the lives of employees and financing costs are recognised in the periods in which they arise. Actuarial gains and losses are
recognised immediately in the statement of recognised income and expense.

iii) Long-term service benefits

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term service benefits, other than pension plans, is the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using the projected unit
credit method and is discounted to its present value and the fair value of any related assets is deducted. The discount rate is the yield at
balance sheet date on high quality bonds of the appropriate currency that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s
obligations.

iv) Equity and equity-related compensation benefits

The Group operates an Executive Share Option Scheme, a SAYE Share Option Scheme and a Performance Share Plan. For options
granted on or after 7 November 2002, the fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense each year. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth
targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become
exercisable. The fair value of the options is determined based on the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. It
recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the income statement, and a corresponding adjustment to equity
over the remaining vesting period.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium
when the options are exercised.

o) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely than not
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are valued at
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring has
either commenced or has been announced publicly.

p) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated at their cost.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

q) Revenue

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer. No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due,

associated costs, or the possible return of goods.

r) Net financing costs 

Net financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method, interest receivable on
funds invested, assumed returns on assets less interest on liabilities on employee benefit plans and gains and losses on hedging
instruments that are recognised in the income statement (see accounting policy ‘Hedging’).

Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the asset. Dividend income is 
recognised in the income statement on the date that the dividend is declared.

The interest expense component of finance lease payments is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest rate method.

s) Income tax 

The charge for taxation is based on the profits for the year and takes into account taxation deferred because of temporary differences
between the treatment of certain items for taxation and for accounting purposes. Full provision is made for the tax effects of these
differences. No provision is made for unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries where there is no commitment to remit such earnings.
Similarly, no provision is made for temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries since realisation of such differences can not
be controlled and is not probable in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

t) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

On initial classification as held for sale, non-current disposal groups are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs 
to sell. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale are included in profit or loss, even for assets measured at fair value, as are
gains and losses on subsequent re-measurement.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major line of business.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale,
if earlier.

2. Basis of preparation

EU law (IAS Regulation EC 1606/2002) requires that the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group, for the year ending 
31 December 2005, be prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (“adopted IFRS”).
However, the Company has elected to prepare its parent company financial statements in accordance with UK GAAP;
these are presented on pages 88 to 93.

The transition date for the application of IFRS was 1 January 2004. The comparative figures for 31 December 2004 have been restated to 
reflect the transition to IFRS and reconciliations of profit and equity from UK GAAP to IFRS are presented in note 29, as well as a reconciliation
of equity at 1 January 2004.

These are the Group’s first consolidated financial statements and IFRS1: ‘First time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’ has
been applied.

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements under IFRS are provided in note 1.

The comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2004 are not the Company’s statutory accounts for that financial year. Those
accounts, which were prepared under UK GAAP, have been reported on by the Company’s auditors and delivered to the Registrar of
Companies. The report of the Auditors was unqualified and did not contain statements under S237(2) or (3) of the Companies Act 1985.

When preparing the Group’s IFRS balance sheet at 1 January 2004, the date of transition, the following optional exemptions from full
retrospective application of IFRS accounting policies have been adopted:

a) Business combinations – the provisions of IFRS3: ‘Business Combinations’ have been applied prospectively from 1 January 2004. As a result;

� goodwill recognised as an asset under UK GAAP as at 31 December 2003 has not been revised retrospectively to identify and extract
intangible assets to be recognised separately from goodwill. The carrying amount of goodwill brought forward in the opening IFRS
balance sheet is that recorded under UK GAAP; and

� goodwill written-off directly to reserves under UK GAAP will not be taken into account in determining any gain or loss on the disposal 
of acquired businesses on or after 31 December 2003.

b) Employee benefits - the directors have elected to present actuarial gains and losses arising on defined benefit pension schemes in the
consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense in accordance with IAS19 (revised): ‘Employee Benefits – Actuarial Gains and Losses,
Group Plans and Disclosures’.
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In addition, the Group has chosen to restate comparative information with respect to IAS32: ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’,
IAS39: ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ as allowed under IFRS1: ‘First-time Adoption of IFRS’; and applied IFRS2: ‘Share-based
Payment’ to share options granted on or after 7 November 2002.

3. Business and geographical segments

Segmental information is presented in the consolidated financial statements in respect of the Group's continuing business segments, which
are the primary basis of segment reporting. The business segment reporting format reflects the Group's management and internal reporting
structures. Inter-segment revenue is insignificant. Geographical location is the secondary basis of segment reporting.

The Group is comprised of the following main business segments and activities:

Fluid Controls

Severe Service Design, manufacture and supply of high performance critical control valves and associated equipment for
power generation plants, oil & gas producers and other process industries.

Fluid Power Design, manufacture and supply of motion and fluid control systems, principally pneumatic devices, for original
equipment manufacturers in commercial vehicles, medical, print and packaging and other manufacturing
industries.

Indoor Climate Design, manufacture and supply of indoor climate control systems, principally balancing valves and
thermostatic radiator valves, for public and private buildings.

Retail Dispense

Beverage Dispense Design, manufacture and supply of still and carbonated beverage dispense systems and associated
merchandising equipment for brand owners and retailers.

Merchandising Systems Design, manufacture and supply of point of purchase display systems for brand owners and retailers.

Balance sheet

Operating profit
before intangible

Revenue amortisation Operating profit

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Fluid Controls 877 784 112.1 90.3 107.6 85.2

Severe Service 213 177 28.3 22.5 27.3 22.4
Fluid Power 492 439 58.5 43.5 55.4 38.9
Indoor Climate 172 168 25.3 24.3 24.9 23.9

Retail Dispense 464 455 47.4 46.9 46.3 46.2

Beverage Dispense 278 267 27.1 24.9 26.3 24.2
Merchandising Systems 186 188 20.3 22.0 20.0 22.0

Total continuing operations 1,341 1,239 159.5 137.2 153.9 131.4

Assets Liabilities

2005 2004 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m

Fluid Controls 473.8 435.6 168.6 165.6

Severe Service 115.7 92.6 56.1 49.4
Fluid Power 280.4 259.5 78.3 84.0
Indoor Climate 77.7 83.5 34.2 32.2

Retail Dispense 186.5 173.8 80.0 69.1

Beverage Dispense 118.3 110.1 47.6 37.1
Merchandising Systems 68.2 63.7 32.4 32.0

Total continuing operations 660.3 609.4 248.6 234.7
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Other information
Capital Depreciation &

expenditure amortisation *
2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Fluid Controls 28.5 22.8 26.9 26.8

Severe Service 4.5 2.9 3.5 3.3
Fluid Power 18.7 15.4 17.1 16.9
Indoor Climate 5.3 4.5 6.3 6.6

Retail Dispense 14.5 12.4 12.3 12.2

Beverage Dispense 6.2 5.5 6.2 7.7
Merchandising Systems 8.3 6.9 6.1 4.5

Total continuing operations 43.0 35.2 39.2 39.0
Discontinued and corporate 10.8 18.3 13.5 20.9

Total operations 53.8 53.5 52.7 59.9

3. Business and geographical segments (continued)

Assets Liabilities
2005 2004 2005 2004

Reconciliation of net assets £m £m £m £m

Operating assets and liabilities of continuing operations 660.3 609.4 248.6 234.7
Operating assets and liabilities of discontinued operation - 214.0 - 67.6
Corporate items 23.7 20.8 64.4 62.1
Goodwill 165.5 322.7 - -
Employee benefits - - 172.8 142.4
Investments 13.0 8.0 - -
Vendor loan note 35.8 - - -
Net borrowings 188.9 120.7 199.5 196.4
Net taxation liabilities and others 94.1 70.2 74.9 107.8

Per Group balance sheet 1,181.3 1,365.8 760.2 811.0

Revenue by geographical destination
2005 2004

£m £m

UK 164 164
Germany 179 178
Rest of Europe 324 300
USA 466 431
Asia/Pacific 141 107
Rest of World 67 59

Total continuing operations 1,341 1,239

* Excluding amortisation of acquired intangible assets.

notes to the financial statements
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Segmental analysis of operating assets by geographical origin
Carrying amount of Capital
segment net assets expenditure

2005 2004 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m

UK 86.8 69.3 22.2 26.4
Germany 69.5 82.1 9.3 7.6
Rest of Europe 79.8 95.1 7.4 7.4
USA 126.2 97.6 12.3 10.9
Asia/Pacific 36.5 20.0 2.5 1.0
Rest of World 12.9 10.6 0.1 0.2

Total continuing operations 411.7 374.7 53.8 53.5

The results in respect of discontinued operations are set out in note 5.

4. Acquisitions

The acquisitions completed in the period were as follows:

Reporting segment: Acquisitions of the whole share capital

Severe Service: ABB KK control valve businesses (November)
Fluid Power: Syron Engineering & Manufacturing (February); GT Development Corporation (November)
Beverage Dispense: Northern Parts & Service (November)

Of the reported increase in turnover and operating profit (before intangible amortisation), £35m and £4.6m respectively result from the above
acquisitions together with the extra months of the prior year acquisition of Fluid Automation Systems (Fluid Power).

Book Fair value Fair value
value adjustment to the Group

£m £m £m

Net assets acquired
Intangible assets 11.0 (1.1) 9.9
Property, plant and equipment 9.9 - 9.9
Working capital 12.8 (1.1) 11.7
Tax (0.6) 0.2 (0.4)

Net assets 33.1 (2.0) 31.1

Purchase consideration 67.2

Goodwill arising in year 36.1 

2005 2004
£m £m

Cash impact of acquisitions
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings  (67.2) (19.2)
Deferred consideration not yet paid 3.6 0.5 
Deferred consideration paid - (2.2)

(63.6) (20.9)

On 6 March 2006 the Company acquired the whole share capital of Truflo Group for an enterprise value of £113m.
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6. Operating profit

Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued 
operations operations Total operations operations Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 1,341.0 237.0 1,578.0 1,238.9 372.4 1,611.3
Cost of sales (800.5) (144.1) (944.6) (734.3) (243.5) (977.8)

Gross profit 540.5 92.9 633.4 504.6 128.9 633.5
Distribution costs (197.3) (35.5) (232.8) (186.7) (61.2) (247.9)
Administrative expenses (190.4) (38.6) (229.0) (187.3) (40.5) (227.8)
Other operating income 1.1 - 1.1 0.8 - 0.8

Operating profit 153.9 18.8 172.7 131.4 27.2 158.6

20042005

5. Discontinued operations

Discontinued operations comprise the Polypipe businesses previously reported as Building Products in the segmental analysis. The sale of
Polypipe, excluding the Doors and Windows business which was closed prior to sale, was completed on 2 September 2005.

The revenue and profit from discontinued operations were as follows:

2005 2004
£m £m £m

Revenue 237.0 372.4

Operating profit 18.8 27.2 
European Commission fine relating to copper tube businesses sold in 2002 - (33.1)
Less tax (6.0) (8.7)

12.8 (14.6) 

Loss on disposal (96.6)
Closure costs (8.0)

(104.6)
Less tax 5.3 

(99.3) -

(86.5) (14.6)

The discontinued operations had cash inflows from operating activities of £3m (2004: £51m) 
and cash outflows from investing activities of £6m (2004: £17m). 2005

£m

Net cash of subsidiary disposed of (7.7)
Sale of businesses 216.7

209.0 

IMI plc Annual Report 2005
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7. Financial income and expense
2005 2004

Interest Other Total Interest Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m 

Interest income 6.9 6.9 6.0 6.0 

Other investments:
Gain on remeasurement of Euro interest 

rate swaps to fair value 1.7 1.7 0.5 0.5 
Gain on remeasurement of interest element 

of part of long term debt to fair value 1.6 1.6 1.9 1.9 
Expected return on defined benefit pension 

plan assets 6.0 6.0 5.1 5.1 
Net gain on remeasurement of transactional 

currency contracts to fair value - - 0.5 0.5 

Financial income 6.9 9.3 16.2 6.0 8.0 14.0

Interest expense (15.1) (15.1) (15.2) (15.2)

Net loss on remeasurement of US Dollar interest 
rate swaps contracts to fair value (1.8) (1.8) (2.1) (2.1)

Net loss on remeasurement of transactional 
currency contracts to fair value (2.1) (2.1) - -

Financial expenses (15.1) (3.9) (19.0) (15.2) (2.1) (17.3)

Net financing costs (8.2) 5.4 (2.8) (9.2) 5.9 (3.3)

8. The following have been charged in arriving at profit before taxation

2005 2004
£m £m

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 50.4 58.3 
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 5.6 5.8 
Auditor's remuneration*

Group fees and expenses 2.1 2.4 
Subsidiary statutory audit services 0.7 0.8 
Non-audit services:

Tax advisory services 0.5 0.6 
Other 0.2 0.1 

Rentals under operating leases:
Property rents 16.8 14.9 
Hire of plant and machinery 6.0 7.8

Research and development expensed as incurred ** 24.2 23.8  

* In addition to the above, amounts paid to the UK auditors in respect of fees included in cost of investment were £0.1m (2004: £0.1m).

** In addition to the above, £5.2m (2004: £2.8m) has been capitalised. See note 12.
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9.Taxation
2005 2004

£m £m £m £m 

Recognised in the income statement:
Current tax expense
UK corporation tax
Current tax on income for the period 25.3 8.6 
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (0.5) (0.5)

24.8 8.1 
Double taxation relief (20.1) (0.7)

4.7 7.4 

Foreign tax
Current tax on income for the period 45.7 40.0 
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 0.8 1.2 

46.5 41.2 

Total current taxation 51.2 48.6

Deferred taxation
Origination and reversal of timing differences 3.2 4.3 

Total tax in income statement 54.4 52.9 

Deferred tax recognised directly in equity:
Equity-settled transactions (1.3) (0.3)
On gains and losses of financial instruments 1.0 (2.0)
On actuarial gains and losses of recognised income and expense (15.3) 0.4 

(15.6) (1.9)

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Profit before tax 169.9 122.2 

Tax using the group rate of 32% (2004: 33%) 54.4 40.3 

Effects of:
Non-taxable and non-deductible items 2.9 2.3 
Non-deductible items - European Commission enquiry - 10.9 
Utilisation of tax losses (4.1) (2.3)
Higher tax rates on overseas earnings 1.7 1.9 
Overprovided in prior years (0.5) (0.2)

Total tax before exceptional items 54.4 52.9 
Tax on exceptional items (5.3) - 

Total tax in income statement 49.1 52.9
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10. Earnings per ordinary share

The weighted average number of shares in issue during the period, net of shares purchased by the Company and held as treasury shares,
was 349.7m, 352.4m diluted for the effect of outstanding share options (2004: 354.0m, 356.5m diluted). Basic earnings per share have been
calculated on earnings of £13.5m, (2004: £67.5m).

The directors consider that adjusted earnings per share figures, using earnings as calculated below, give a more meaningful indication of the
underlying performance.

2005 2004
Total £m £m 

Profit for the period attributable to equity shareholders of the parent 13.5 67.5 
Charges/(credits) included in profit for the period:
Change in fair value of financial instruments 0.6 (0.8)
Intangible amortisation 5.6 5.8 
Taxation on credits included in profit before tax (2.2) (1.3)
Exceptional items (after tax) 99.3 33.1 

Earnings for adjusted EPS 116.8  104.3 

Adjusted EPS 33.4p 29.5p

From continuing operations 2005 2004
£m £m 

Profit for the period 102.7 83.9 
Minority interest (2.7) (1.8)
Charges/(credits) included in profit for the period:
Change in fair value of financial instruments 0.6 (0.8)
Intangible amortisation 5.6 5.8 
Taxation on credits included in profit before tax (2.2) (1.3)

Earnings for adjusted EPS 104.0 85.8

Adjusted EPS 29.7p 24.2p

2005 2004
From discontinued operations £m £m

Loss for the period from discontinued businesses (86.5) (14.6)
Exceptional items after income tax expense 99.3 33.1

Earnings for adjusted EPS 12.8  18.5 

Adjusted EPS 3.7p 5.3p



Capitalised Other 
Goodwill development cost acquired intangibles Total

Net Net Net Net
book Cost Amort- book Cost Amort- book book
value isation value isation value value

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

At 31 December 2003 317.9 11.2 4.3 6.9 - - - 324.8 
Exchange adjustments (4.1) (0.5) (0.3) (0.2) - - - (4.3)
Acquisitions 8.9 - - - 7.0 - 7.0 15.9 
Additions - 2.8 - 2.8 - - - 2.8 
Amortisation for year - 1.6 (1.6) - 4.2 (4.2) (5.8)

At 31 December 2004 322.7 13.5 5.6 7.9 7.0 4.2 2.8 333.4 

Exchange adjustments 6.7 0.6 0.4 0.2 0.8 0.1 0.7 7.6 
Acquisitions 36.1 - - - 9.1 - 9.1 45.2
Additions - 5.2 - 5.2 - - - 5.2
Disposals (200.0) - - - - - - (200.0)
Amortisation for year - 2.3 (2.3) - 3.3 (3.3) (5.6)

At 31 December 2005 165.5 19.3 8.3 11.0 16.9 7.6 9.3 185.8 
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11. Employee information

The number of people employed by the Group on average each month during the year was:

2005 2004 

Fluid Controls 9,234 8,903 
Retail Dispense 4,422 4,401 
Other 192 199

Continuing businesses 13,848 13,503
Discontinued business 3,251 3,568 

Total 17,099 17,071 

The aggregate employment cost for the year was:
£m £m  

Continuing businesses
Wages and salaries 357.2 336.1 
Share-based payments (see note 20) 2.0 1.4 
Social security costs 51.6 49.2 
Pension costs 16.7 16.3 

427.5 403.0

Discontinued business
Wages and salaries 42.3 67.6 
Social security costs 5.2 7.9 
Pension costs 0.7 1.3 

48.2 76.8

Total 475.7 479.8 

Directors' emoluments for the year were: £000 £000  

Emoluments for qualifying service 3,666 2,507

The detailed information concerning directors' emoluments, shareholdings and options is shown in the Remuneration Report on pages 38-46.

12. Intangible assets
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The net book value of land and buildings comprises:

2005 2004
£m £m

Freehold: land 13.3  11.5
buildings 60.7 91.2

Long leasehold 0.2 2.0
Short leasehold 7.7 4.6

81.9 109.3

Included in the total net book value of plant and machinery is £0.3m (2004: £0.8m) in respect of assets acquired under finance leases.
Depreciation for the year on these assets was £0.5m (2004: £0.5m).

13. Property, plant and equipment
Assets in 
course of

constr-
Land & buildings Plant & machinery uction Total

Gross book Depre- Net book Gross book Depre- Net book Net book Net book
value ciation value value ciation value value value

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2003 203.4 87.5 115.9 725.6 555.3 170.3 6.4 292.6
Exchange adjustments (8.6) (7.6) (1.0) (9.7) (8.2) (1.5) (0.2) (2.7)
Acquisitions - - - 1.7 0.3 1.4 - 1.4
Additions 1.6 - 1.6 40.3 - 40.3 8.8 50.7
Disposals (3.6) (1.8) (1.8) (24.5) (22.4) (2.1) (0.1) (4.0)
Transfers 0.3 - 0.3 3.7 - 3.7 (4.0) -
Depreciation for year 5.7 (5.7) 52.6 (52.6) (58.3)

At 31 December 2004 193.1 83.8 109.3 737.1 577.6 159.5 10.9 279.7 

Exchange adjustments 1.2 0.7 0.5 9.1 7.4 1.7 0.6 2.8
Acquisitions 10.0 2.3 7.7 8.0 6.3 1.7 - 9.4
Additions 3.2 - 3.2 33.7 - 33.7 11.7 48.6
Disposals of subsidiaries (43.9) (14.2) (29.7) (229.1) (175.8) (53.3) (0.1) (83.1)
Disposals (10.0) (3.5) (6.5) (47.5) (39.7) (7.8) (0.6) (14.9)
Transfers 0.6 - 0.6 10.5 - 10.5 (11.1) -
Depreciation for year 3.2 (3.2) 47.2 (47.2) (50.4)

At 31 December 2005 154.2 72.3 81.9 521.8 423.0 98.8 11.4  192.1
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14. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Assets Liabilities Net
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment (1.3) (1.3) 10.4 19.1 9.1 17.8 
Intangible assets (16.1) (18.5) 9.2 5.0 (6.9) (13.5)
Inventories (10.3) (9.6) 8.5 6.3 (1.8) (3.3)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (0.7) (4.5) 0.3 2.3 (0.4) (2.2)
Employee benefits (58.7) (44.5) - 0.4 (58.7) (44.1)
Provisions (14.0) (10.8) 3.7 2.7 (10.3) (8.1)
Tax value of loss carry-forwards recognised (2.1) - - - (2.1) -  

(103.2) (89.2) 32.1 35.8  (71.1) (53.4)
Set off of tax 27.7 27.5 (27.7) (27.5) - - 

(75.5) (61.7) 4.4 8.3 (71.1) (53.4)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following item:

2005 2004
£m £m

Tax losses 22.2 26.1

The majority of the tax losses have no expiry date.

Movement in temporary differences during the year
Recognised Net new 

Balance Recognised directly in subs/subs Balance at
at 1 Jan 05 in income equity Other sold 31 Dec 05

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 17.8 (3.0) - (0.2) (5.5) 9.1 
Intangible assets (13.5) 5.6 - (0.2) 1.2 (6.9)
Inventories (3.3) 1.6 - 0.2 (0.3) (1.8)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (2.2) 1.7 1.0 (0.9) - (0.4)
Employee benefits (44.1) 1.5 (16.6) 0.5 - (58.7)
Provisions (8.1) (0.7) - (0.6) (0.9) (10.3)
Tax value of loss carry forward recognised - (2.2) - 0.1 - (2.1)

(53.4) 4.5 (15.6) (1.1) (5.5) (71.1)

Recognised Net new 
Balance Recognised directly in subs/subs Balance at

at 1 Jan 04 in income equity Other sold 31 Dec 04
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 18.4 (1.1) - 0.5 - 17.8 
Intangible assets (20.7) 4.0 - 1.4 1.8 (13.5)
Inventories (3.3) (0.8) - 0.3 0.5 (3.3)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (0.5) 0.3 (2.0) - - (2.2)
Employee benefits (43.4) 0.6 0.1 (1.4) - (44.1)
Provisions (8.1) 1.3 - (1.3) - (8.1)

(57.6) 4.3 (1.9) (0.5) 2.3 (53.4)
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15. Inventories

2005 2004
£m £m

Raw materials and consumables 75.2 89.4
Work in progress 61.8 62.4
Finished goods 68.6 96.3

205.6 248.1

16. Trade and other receivables

2005 2004
Falling due for payment within one year £m £m

Trade debtors 230.9 257.3 
Other debtors 12.2 19.8 
Vendor loan note 35.8 - 
Prepayments and accrued income 13.5 16.1
Deferred consideration 0.4 0.4 
Other financial assets 4.7 6.5 

297.5 300.1

Falling due for payment after more than one year

Other debtors 4.3 5.1  
Deferred consideration - 0.4  

4.3 5.5

301.8 305.6

17. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more information about
the Group exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, see note 19.

2005 2004
£m £m

Current liabilities
Secured bank loans 2.3 5.0
Unsecured other loans 41.7 49.9 
Secured other loans 0.1 0.2
Finance lease liabilities 0.3 0.1 

44.4 55.2

Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans - 0.8 
Unsecured other loans 147.6 134.5  
Secured other loans 0.4 0.6 
Finance lease liabilities 0.2 -  

148.2 135.9
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18. Trade and other payables

Current liabilities

2005 2004
£m £m

Trade payables 144.2 166.0 
Bills of exchange payable 2.9 4.5 
Other taxation 7.2 15.4
Social security 4.5 6.3 
Other payables 1.2 0.4 
Accruals and deferred income 137.8 131.7 
Other financial liabilities 4.1 7.2 

301.9 331.5

19. Financial instruments

US Dollar interest rate risk management

The Group has raised US Dollar debt through the issuance of medium to long term fixed rate Loan Notes. In order to manage its
exposure to interest rates by maintaining a balanced exposure between fixed and floating rates, USD 95m of this fixed rate exposure was
hedged back to floating through the use of interest rate swaps in 1999 and 2001 covering loan notes with maturities between 2009 and
2014. The interest component of the fair value of this portion of the Loan Notes has been designated as a hedged item and has been
revalued accordingly in the accounts.

The fair value of these interest rate swaps is included as an asset in the balance sheet at £4.7m (2004: £6.5m). The hedged item is
included in the value of the debt  as an increase in liability of £5.2m (2004: increase £6.7m).

Net investment hedges

The Group hedges its net investments in overseas operations by way of external currency loans and currency forward contracts. The
intention is to minimise the Group's exposure to gains and losses in the Shareholders' Funds resulting from retranslation of currency
assets and liabilities at balance sheet dates. However, any ineffectiveness arising from net investment hedging is recognised in the 
income statement.
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19. Financial instruments (continued)

Currency profile of assets and liabilities
Assets excluding Exchange Net asset Net asset

cash and debt Cash Debt contracts exposure exposure
2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Sterling 78 73 (42) 193 302 507
US Dollar 196 30 (153) (36) 37 24
Euro 58 27 - (78) 7 (29)
Other 102 59 (5) (81) 75 56

Total 434 189 (200) (2) 421 558

Exchange contracts are financial instruments used as currency hedges of overseas net assets.

Financial liabilities
Debt and exchange Floating Fixed Weighted Weighted average 

contracts rate rate average fixed period for which
2004 2004 2004 interest rate rate is fixed 

£m £m £m %  years

Sterling (48) (48) - - -
US Dollar (147) (69) (78) 6.9 6.4
Euro (142) (80) (62) 5.3 1.4
Other (68) (68) - - -

Total (405) (265) (140)

Financial liabilities
Debt and exchange Floating Fixed Weighted Weighted average   

contracts rate rate average fixed period for which
2005 2005 2005 interest rate rate is fixed 

£m £m £m %  years

Sterling (42) (42) - - -
US Dollar (189) (102) (87) 6.9 5.4
Euro (78) (57) (21) 5.2 2.7
Other (86) (86) - - -

Total (395) (287) (108)

Interest rates are managed using fixed and floating rate debt and financial instruments including interest rate swaps. Floating rate
liabilities comprise short term debt which bears interest at short term bank rates and the liability side of exchange contracts where the
interest element is based primarily on three month inter bank rate.

All cash surpluses are invested for short periods and can be considered as floating rate investments.

Short term trade debtors and creditors have been excluded from the above two analyses. There are no other material non-interest
bearing financial assets or liabilities.



Effective interest rates and repricing analysis

In respect of income earning financial assets and interest bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates their effective interest rates at
the balance sheet date and the periods in which they mature or, if earlier, are repriced.

2005
Effective 5 years

interest 0 to 1 to 2 to 3 to 4 to and
rate Total <1 year <2 years <3 years <4 years <5 years over

% £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents Floating 188.9 188.9 - - - - -
US Loan Notes 2007-2022 6.70-7.17 (58.1) - (8.7) - (29.1) - (20.3)
US Loan Notes 2009-2014 Floating Floating (30.3) - - - (9.6) - (20.7)
US Loan Notes 2009 6.56 (29.1) - - - (29.1) - -
US Loan Notes 2009 Floating (30.1) - - - (30.1) - -
UK Loan Notes 2006-2007 Floating (41.7) (41.7) - - - - -
Finance lease Various (0.5) (0.3) (0.2) - - - -
Bank overdrafts Floating (6.9) (6.9) - - - - -
Secured bank loans Floating (2.3) (2.3) - - - - -
Other unsecured loans Floating - - - - - - -
Other secured loans Floating (0.5) (0.1) (0.1) (0.1) - - (0.2)

Total (10.6) 137.6 (9.0) (0.1) (97.9) - (41.2)

2004
Effective 5 years
interest 0 to 1 to 2 to 3 to 4 to and

rate Total <1 year <2 years <3 years <4 years <5 years over
% £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents Floating 120.7 120.7 - - - - -
US Loan Notes 2007-2022 6.70-7.17 (52.1) - - (7.8) - (26.1) (18.2)
US Loan Notes 2009-2014 Floating Floating (28.2) - - - - (9.0) (19.2)
US Loan Notes 2009 6.56 (26.0) - - - - (26.0) -
US Loan Notes 2009 Floating (28.0) - - - - (28.0) -
UK Loan Notes 2006-2007 Floating (48.3) (48.3) - - - - -
Finance lease Various (0.1) (0.1) - - - - -
Bank overdrafts Floating (5.3) (5.3) - - - - -
Secured bank loans Floating (5.8) (5.0) (0.4) (0.3) - - (0.1)
Other unsecured loans Floating (1.6) (1.6) - - - - -
Other secured loans Floating (1.0) (0.2) (0.2) (0.2) (0.1) - (0.3)

Total (75.7) 60.2 (0.6) (8.3) (0.1) (89.1) (37.8)

19. Financial instruments (continued)
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Undrawn committed facilities

The Group has various undrawn committed borrowing facilities. The facilities available at 31 December in respect of which all conditions
precedent had been met were as follows:

2005 2004
£m £m 

Expiring within one year 25 15
Expiring between one and two years 25 25
Expiring after more than two years 85 40

Total 135 80

The weighted average life of these facilities is 2.3 years (2004: 2.5 years).

Fair value of financial asset/(liability)

2005 2004

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£m £m £m £m

Short term deposits 40.0 40.0 5.3 5.3
Cash at bank and in hand 148.9 148.9 115.4 115.4
Borrowings falling due within one year (51.3) (51.3) (60.5) (60.5)
Borrowings falling due after more than one year (148.2) (153.9) (135.9) (143.3)
Forward currency contracts (3.1) (3.1) (4.4) (4.4)
Interest rate instruments 3.6 3.6 3.7 3.7

For short term deposits, cash at bank and in hand and floating rate borrowings, the fair value is assumed to be the same as the book value.

For fixed rate borrowings, forward currency contracts and interest rate instruments fair values have been calculated by discounting cashflows
at prevailing market rates.

There is no difference between the fair value and book value of trade debtors and creditors.
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20. Employee benefits

Post retirement benefits 2005 2004
£m £m

Recognised liability for defined benefit obligations 172.8 142.4

(b) Reconciliation to the balance sheet as at 31 December
2005 2004

Overseas Overseas Overseas Overseas 
post non-post post non-post 

employ- employ- employ- employ-
UK ment ment Total UK ment ment Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Fair value of assets 931.5 53.1 - 984.6 810.7 50.1 - 860.8
Present value of defined benefit obligation

(funded schemes) (1,040.0) (66.0) - (1,106.0) (892.5) (72.7) - (965.2)
Present value of defined benefit obligation

(unfunded schemes) - (47.6) (3.8) (51.4) - (34.3) (3.7) (38.0)

Defined benefit liability at year end (108.5) (60.5) (3.8) (172.8) (81.8) (56.9) (3.7) (142.4)

(a) Summary of assumptions
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003

UK Overseas UK Overseas UK Overseas
% pa % pa % pa % pa % pa % pa

Inflation rate 2.8 1.3 2.8 2.0 2.7 2.0
Discount rate 4.8 4.0 5.3 4.6 5.4 5.1
Expected rate of salary increases * 4.5 2.8 4.5 3.6 4.4 3.2
Rate of pension increases ** 2.8 0.6 2.8 0.8 2.7 0.6
Rate of increase for deferred pensions ** 2.8 0.6 2.8 0.8 2.7 0.6
Medical cost trend rate n/a 5.0 n/a 5.0 n/a 5.0

Expected return on equities 7.8 7.0 8.0 6.8 8.1 6.8
Expected return on bonds 4.3 2.2 4.8 3.5 5.1 4.0
Expected return on property n/a 3.0 n/a 3.9 7.2 4.1
Expected return on other assets 4.0 2.2 4.0 2.6 4.0 3.5

Overall expected return on assets *** 6.6 4.0 6.9 4.6 7.0 5.0

* includes 0.2% pa as the average effect of the age-by-age promotional scale for UK
** in excess of any Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) for UK
*** based on the distribution of assets set out below
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(d) Income and expense recognised through equity for the year ended 31 December

2005 2004
Overseas Overseas Overseas Overseas 

post non-post post non-post 
employ- employ- employ- employ-

UK ment ment Total UK ment ment Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Actuarial (losses)/gains recognised in 
the SORIE during the year (49.4) (2.1) 0.1 (51.4) 4.6 (3.4) 0.2 1.4

Cumulative amount of actuarial gains/(losses)
recognised in the SORIE at beginning of year 4.6 (3.4) 0.2 1.4 - - - -

Cumulative amount of actuarial (losses)/gains
recognised in the SORIE at end of year (44.8) (5.5) 0.3 (50.0) 4.6 (3.4) 0.2 1.4

(c) Components of the pension expense recognised in the income statement for the year ended 31 December

2005 2004
Overseas Overseas Overseas Overseas 

post non-post post non-post 
employ- employ- employ- employ-

UK ment ment Total UK ment ment Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

From defined benefit schemes:
Service cost 10.6 3.6 - 14.2 10.2 3.5 - 13.7
Interest cost 46.2 4.4 0.2 50.8 45.7 4.2 0.2 50.1
Expected return on assets (54.5) (2.3) - (56.8) (53.0) (2.2) - (55.2)
Past service cost - - - - - 0.3 - 0.3
Settlement/curtailment - 0.2 - 0.2 (0.4) (0.1) - (0.5)

Total pension expense from defined
benefit schemes 2.3 5.9 0.2 8.4 2.5 5.7 0.2 8.4

Pension expense from defined
contribution schemes 1.0 5.0 - 6.0 1.3 5.7 - 7.0

Total pension expense 3.3 10.9 0.2 14.4 3.8 11.4 0.2 15.4
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20. Employee benefits (continued)

(e) Reconciliation of present value of Defined Benefit Obligation (DBO) for the year ended 31 December

2005 2004
Overseas Overseas Overseas Overseas 

post non-post post non-post 
employ- employ- employ- employ-

UK ment ment Total UK ment ment Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Present value of DBO at the beginning of the year 892.5 107.0 3.7 1,003.2 889.3 100.0 3.7 993.0
Company service cost 10.6 3.6 - 14.2 10.2 3.5 - 13.7
Interest cost 46.2 4.4 0.2 50.8 45.7 4.2 0.2 50.1
Employee contributions 1.5 - - 1.5 1.4 - - 1.4
Actuarial loss/(gain) 141.0 0.7 (0.2) 141.5 - 0.3 - 0.3
Actual benefit payments (45.4) (4.0) - (49.4) 23.3 4.0 (0.2) 27.1
Settlement/curtailment - (1.2) - (1.2) (45.6) (3.3) - (48.9)
Sale of businesses (6.4) - - (6.4) (31.8) (0.1) - (31.9)
Other - 3.1 0.1 3.2 - (1.6) - (1.6)

Present value of DBO at the end of the year 1,040.0 113.6 3.8 1,157.4 892.5 107.0 3.7 1,003.2

(f) Market value by category of assets as at 31 December

2005 2004
Overseas Overseas Overseas Overseas 

post non-post post non-post 
employ- employ- employ- employ-

UK ment ment Total UK ment ment Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Equities 616.6 19.8 - 636.4 535.0 19.3 - 554.3
Bonds 305.5 22.9 - 328.4 259.8 19.8 - 279.6
Property - 1.6 - 1.6 - 1.5 - 1.5
Other 9.4 8.8 - 18.2 15.9 9.5 - 25.4

Total 931.5 53.1 - 984.6 810.7 50.1 - 860.8
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(g) Reconciliation of the fair value of assets for the year ended 31 December

2005 2004
Overseas Overseas Overseas Overseas 

post non-post post non-post 
employ- employ- employ- employ-

UK ment ment Total UK ment ment Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Fair value of assets at the beginning of the year 810.7 50.1 - 860.8 798.3 47.9 - 846.2
Expected return on assets 54.5 2.3 - 56.8 53.0 2.2 - 55.2
Actuarial gain/(loss) on assets 91.6 (0.3) - 91.3 27.9 (0.3) - 27.6
Actual company contributions:

- normal 6.9 4.4 - 11.3 7.1 4.3 - 11.4
- additional 15.6 - - 15.6 - - - -

Employee contributions 1.5 - - 1.5 1.4 - - 1.4
Actual benefit payments (45.4) (4.0) - (49.4) (45.6) (3.3) - (48.9)
Settlements - (1.4) - (1.4) (31.4) - - (31.4)
Sale of businesses (3.9) - - (3.9) - - - -
Other - 2.0 - 2.0 - (0.7) - (0.7)

Fair value of fund assets at the end of the year 931.5 53.1 - 984.6 810.7 50.1 - 860.8

(i) Additional information
UK Overseas Total
£m £m £m

Expected employer contributions for year ending
31 December 2006:
- normal 8.4 3.2 11.6
- additional 15.6 - 15.6

Expected employee contributions for year ending
31 December 2006 2.2 - 2.2

Expected benefits paid by the Company for year ending
31 December 2006 - 2.2 2.2

(h) Reconciliation of actual return on assets for year ended 31 December

2005 2004
Overseas Overseas Overseas Overseas 

post non-post post non-post 
employ- employ- employ- employ-

UK ment ment Total UK ment ment Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Expected return on assets 54.5 2.3 - 56.8 53.0 2.2 - 55.2
Actuarial gain/(loss) on assets 91.6 (0.3) - 91.3 27.9 (0.3) - 27.6

Actual return on assets 146.1 2.0 - 148.1 80.9 1.9 - 82.8



20. Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments

Under IFRS2: ‘Share-based Payments’, the fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised 
as an expense each year. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting
conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable.

The Group operates the following share-based payment schemes:

SAYE savings-related share option scheme. This scheme is open to the majority of the Group’s UK employees, including the executive directors,
and allows the grant of options to all participants at a discount of up to 20% below the market price. Such schemes are not subject to
performance conditions and offer tax incentives to encourage employees to use their own money to purchase shares in the business.
SAYE options are exercisable within 6 months of the exercise date and otherwise expire.

Executive Share Option Scheme. This scheme is open to the executive directors and selected senior managers within the Group. Executive
share options expire if not exercised or lapsed within the periods shown below.

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) performance shares. These are open to the executive directors and selected senior managers within the Group.
50% of these LTIP shares vest subject to EPS growth, based on internal financial performance conditions. Hence, for purposes of IFRS2, the fair
value of the shares does not include any performance related discount. The LTIP uses TSR (total shareholder return) as a performance condition
for the other 50% of shares granted. As TSR is a market based performance condition, the accounting treatment differs from that for shares
subject to internal performance conditions. This means that the TSR performance condition must be incorporated into the calculation of the
fair value, that is, there is a TSR-related discount in calculating the fair value.

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) matching shares. The LTIP allows cash awards to executive directors and selected senior managers within 
the Group subject to certain performance conditions. At the end of the performance period, the net of tax value of any LTIP payments must
normally be invested in market purchases of the Company’s ordinary shares pursuant to a deferred share plan. Such share purchases are to be
made through an employee trust and held for a further three year period. After that period, matching shares are awarded of one additional
share for every four with no further performance conditions.

The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows, whereby all options are settled by physical delivery of shares:

Analysis of options granted
Employee SAYE options Executive options Long term

incentive plan1

Weighted Weighted 
Number average Normal Number average Normal Number Normal

of options option exercisable of options option exercisable of awards exercisable
Date of grant thousand price date thousand price date thousand date

2003 976 201p 2006-2010 2,258 257p 2006-2013 - 
2004 801 289p 2007-2009 2,119 358p 2007-2014 -
2005 463 380p 2008-2010 484 421p 2008-2015 706 2012

2,240 4,861 706

1 The long-term incentive plan was granted at an option price of £nil.
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The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

Long term 
Employee SAYE options Executive options Incentive plan 

Weighted Weighted 
Range of average Range of  average Number

Number option option Number option option of shares
of options prices price of options prices price 

Outstanding at 1 January 2004 946,254 201p 201p 2,251,000 257p 257p -
Granted 801,098 289p 289p 2,199,000 358p 358 p -
Exercised 4,092 201p 201p 22,500 257p 257p -
Lapsed 193,753 201-289p 228p 213,500 257-358p 298p -

Outstanding at 31 December 2004 1,549,507 201-289p 243p 4,214,000 257-358p 308p -

Exercisable at 31 December 2004 20,110 201-289p 233p - - - -
Granted 464,450 380p 380p 484,000 421p 421p 706,200
Exercised 184,852 201-289p 234p 11,000 257p 257p -
Lapsed 545,921 201-380p 286p 76,250 257-421p 312 p -

Outstanding at 31 December 2005 1,283,184 201-380p 276p 4,610,750 257-421p 320p 706,200
Exercisable at 31 December 2005 232,793 201-380p 262p 3,000 257p 257p -

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of share options exercised during the period was £4.21 (2004: £3.79).

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted.
The estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The assumptions used for
grants in 2005 included a dividend yield of 3.5% (2004: 4%, 2003: 4%), expected share price volatility of 34% (2004: 36%, 2003: 37%), a weighted
average expected life of 4.6 years (2004: 4.8 years, 2003: 4.8 years) and a weighted average interest rate of 4.2% (2004: 4.4%, 2003: 4.4%). The
expected volatility is wholly based on the historic volatility (calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the share options),
adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.

The total expenses recognised for the period arising from share-based payments are as follows:
2005 2004

£m £m

Equity settled share based payment expense and total carrying amount of liabilities 2.0 1.4
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21. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Trade Rationalisation/ 
warranties restructuring Other Total

£m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2003 17.6 5.5 14.0 37.1
Exchange adjustment (0.2) (0.1) - (0.3)
Acquisitions/disposals 0.1 - - 0.1
Utilised during the year (8.0) (6.3) (0.7) (15.0)
Income statement 10.9 5.3 3.2 19.4

At 31 December 2004 20.4 4.4 16.5 41.3

Exchange adjustment 2.0 0.4 - 2.4
Acquisitions/disposals 0.1 - - 0.1
Utilised during the year (9.8) (6.8) (1.1) (17.7)
Income statement 4.9 3.1 - 8.0

At 31 December 2005 17.6 1.1 15.4 34.1

At 31 December 2005 other provisions comprise mainly environmental and property lease provisions. Product warranties are given in normal
course of business and cover a range of periods, typically from 1-6 years. Rationalisation/restructuring provision is expected to be fully utilised
within 1 year.

22. Share capital and reserves

Share Capital Total
Share premium Hedging Translation redemption Retained parent Minority Total

capital account reserve reserve reserve earnings equity interest equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2003 88.3 136.5 1.6 308.5 534.9 3.6 538.5
Retained profits for the year 67.5 67.5 1.8 69.3
Issued in the period 0.4 3.4 3.8 3.8
Fair value loss on financial instruments (4.5) (4.5) (4.5)
Foreign exchange translation differences 2.3 2.3 (0.1) 2.2
Dividends paid (55.9) (55.9) (1.3) (57.2)
Actuarial gains on defined benefit

plans (net of deferred tax) 1.0 1.0 1.0
Share based payments (net of 

deferred tax) 1.7 1.7 1.7

At 31 December 2004 88.7 139.9 (4.5) 2.3 1.6 322.8 550.8 4.0 554.8
Retained profits for the year 13.5 13.5 2.7 16.2
Issued in the period 0.9 9.5 10.4 10.4
Acquired during the period (2.0) (2.0)
Fair value gain on financial instruments 2.3 2.3 2.3
Foreign exchange translation differences 5.6 5.6 0.4 6.0
Dividends paid (59.4) (59.4) (1.6) (61.0)
Actuarial losses on defined benefit

plans (net of deferred tax) (36.4) (36.4) (36.4)
Share based payments (net of 

deferred tax) 3.4 3.4 3.4
Treasury shares (72.6) (72.6) (72.6)

At 31 December 2005 89.6 149.4 (2.2) 7.9 1.6 171.3 417.6 3.5 421.1
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Share capital

2005 2004
£m £m 

Authorised
480m (2004: 480m) ordinary shares of 25p each 120.0 120.0
Issued and fully paid
358.6m (2004: 354.8m) ordinary shares of 25p each 89.6 88.7

During the year 3,825,347 shares were issued under employee share schemes realising £10.4m.

Dividends
After the balance sheet date the following dividends were proposed by the directors.The dividends have not been provided for and there are
no income tax consequences.

2005 2004
£m £m 

10.85p per qualifying ordinary share (2004: 10.2p) 37.1 36.2

Dividends paid in the year (£59.4m) represented 16.85p per share (2004: 15.8p).
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Share options

The majority of UK employees may participate in the IMI SAYE Share Option (1994) Scheme and selected senior executives within the
Group participate in the IMI Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme and the IMI Performance Share Plan. At 31 December 2005, options 
to purchase ordinary shares had been granted to and not exercised by participants of IMI share option schemes as follows:

Date of Number Scheme
grant of shares Price Date of exercise code

IMI SAYE Share Option

(1994) Scheme 07.04.98 1,281 365p 01.07.05 A

06.04.99 37,777 254p 01.08.06 B 

13.04.00 61,700 201p 01.07.07 C

09.04.01 263,911 201p 01.07.06 or 01.07.08  D

08.04.02 169,966 244p 01.08.07 or 01.08.09 E

08.04.03 522,610 201p 01.08.06, 01.08.08 or 01.08.10 F

06.04.04 443,718 289p 01.08.07 or 01.08.09 G

05.04.05 316,856 380p 01.08.08 or 01.08.10 H

IMI Executive Share

Option (1995) Scheme 19.09.96 28,941 398.9p 19.09.99 to 19.09.06 I

26.03.97 10,144 390.8p 26.03.00 to 26.03.07 J

18.09.97 32,321 384.9p 18.09.00 to 18.09.07 K

25.03.98 24,230 455.1p 25.03.01 to 25.03.08 L

24.03.99 68,900 284.6p 24.03.02 to 24.03.09 M

22.03.00 46,000 226.6p 22.03.03 to 22.03.10 N

03.04.01 221,330 248.4p 03.04.04 to 03.04.11 O

03.04.02 493,795 309.1p 03.04.05 to 03.04.12 P

25.09.02 160,000 274.0p 25.09.05 to 25.09.12 Q

02.04.03 2,088,500 256.9p 02.04.06 to 02.04.13 R

24.03.04 2,032,750 358.0p 24.03.07 to 24.03.14 S

04.10.04 80,000 362.2p 04.10.07 to 04.10.14 T

23.03.05 484,000 420.5p 23.03.08 to 23.03.15 U

IMI 2005 Long Term

Incentive Plan (also known as 13.05.05 706,200 388.67p 13.05.08 to 13.05.15 V

IMI Performance Share Plan)

22. Share capital and reserves (continued)
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23. Cash flow notes

i) Reconciliation of cash generated from the operations
2005 2004

£m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the period 16.2 69.3
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 50.4 58.3
Amortisation 5.6 5.8

Net loss on disposal and closure costs 99.3 -
European Commission fine - 33.1
Financing income (16.2) (14.0)
Financing expense 19.0 17.3
Employee benefit charge 2.2 1.6
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 2.0 1.4
Income tax expense 54.4 52.9

Operating profit before changes in working 232.9 225.7
capital and provisions 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (18.3) 0.2
Increase in inventories (0.7) (4.7)
Increase in trade and other payables 8.1 17.9
(Decrease)/increase in provisions and employee benefits (9.7) 0.3

Cash generated from the operations 212.3 239.4

Reconciliation of operating cash flow
Cash generated from the operations 212.3 239.4
Sale of property, plant and equipment 6.8 4.0
(Purchase)/sale of investments (1.1) 0.2
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (48.7) (50.8)
Capitalised development expenditure (5.2) (2.8)

Operating cash flow 164.1 190.0

Continuing businesses 166.7 155.5
Discontinued businesses (2.6) 34.5

164.1 190.0

ii) Cash and cash equivalents/bank overdrafts
2005 2004

£m £m

Cash and cash equivalents per balance sheet 188.9 120.7
Bank overdrafts (6.9) (5.3)

182.0 115.4

iii)  Analysis of net debt
Borrowings and finance

leases due
Cash and within 1 after more Total
deposits year than 1 year net debt

£m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2004 120.7 (60.5) (135.9) (75.7)
Cash flow 64.6 9.2 3.2 77.0
Currency translation differences 3.6 - (15.5) (11.9)

At 31 December 2005 188.9 (51.3) (148.2) (10.6)
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24. Operating Leases

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:
2005 2004

Land and Land and
buildings Others buildings Others

£m £m £m £m

Within one year 3.1 1.4 3.6 3.2
In the second to fifth year 12.3 10.9 23.7 11.0
After five years 50.8 0.6 46.7 -

66.2 12.9 74.0 14.2

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group primarily for certain of its office properties.

25. Commitments

Group contracts in respect of future capital expenditure which had been placed at the balance sheet date amounted to £4m (2004: £4m).

Foreign exchange commitments at the balance sheet date amounted to £309m (2004: £349m).

26. Contingencies

The European Commission is investigating allegations of anti-competitive behaviour among certain manufacturers of copper fittings.
Notwithstanding IMI's disposal of its Copper Fittings businesses in 2002, it retains responsibility in relation to the European Commission's
investigations in respect of those businesses. A Statement of Objections was issued by the Commission in September 2005. It is not possible
to give any reliable estimate of the likely level of fine, a decision on which is not expected until 2006.

There is a right of set-off with four of the Company's bankers relating to the balances of the Company and a number of its wholly-owned UK
subsidiaries.

Group contingent liabilities relating to guarantees in the normal course of business and other items amounted to £52m (2004: £56m).

27. Related party transactions

Transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed
in this note.

Detailed information concerning directors emoluments, shareholding, options and retirement benefits are shown in the Remuneration Report
on pages 38 to 46.

28. Key accounting estimates

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
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Total profit
for the

EBIT* PBT* PBT period
£m £m £m £m

2004 reported profit under UK GAAP 164.6 155.4 100.7 49.3

IFRS2 Share-based Payment Expensing of employee share (1.4) (1.4) (1.4) (1.0)
options over period between 
grant and vesting.

IAS19 Employee Benefits Classification of pension cost (1.6) 3.5 3.5 2.4
between operating cost and 
finance income.

IFRS3 Business Combinations Goodwill no longer amortised. 21.6 20.8

Other intangible asset amortisation (4.2) (3.1)
re 2004 acquisition.

IAS32/39 Financial Instruments Movements arising from recording 0.8 0.8 0.5
financial instruments and 
derivatives at fair value.

IAS38 Intangible Assets Net effect of capitalisation less 2.8 2.8 1.2 0.8
amortisation of certain 
development costs.

IAS12 Income Tax Tax effect of foreign exchange (0.4)
gains on deferred tax asset.

2004 profit under IFRS 164.4 161.1 122.2 69.3

* Before exceptional items and goodwill/intangible amortisation.

December 2004 full year 
earnings impact

29. IFRS reconciliation 

The following tables illustrate the adoption of IFRS on the 2004 income statement and balance sheet.
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Non-
current Net

assets Other assets
£m £m £m

2004 reported balance sheet under UK GAAP 600.0 (61.8) 538.2

Opening balance sheet adjustment 50.1 (54.6) (4.5)

IFRS2 Share-based Payment Tax relating to expensing of employee 0.7 0.7
share options over period between 
grant and vesting.

IAS19 Employee Benefits Recognition of pension deficits. (1.0) 4.4 3.4
less associated deferred tax

IFRS3 Business Combinations Goodwill no longer amortised. 20.8 20.8

Other intangible asset amortisation (3.1) (3.1)
re 2004 acquisition.

IAS32/39 Financial Instruments Movements arising from recording 1.7 (5.7) (4.0)
financial instruments and derivatives 
at fair value.

IAS10 Events After the Proposed final dividend no longer 2.6 2.6
Balance Sheet Date being recognised.

IAS38 Intangible Assets Capitalisation of certain  0.7 0.7
development costs.

IAS12 Income Tax Classification of deferred tax assets, 4.9 (4.9) -
including additional deferred tax assets 
on goodwill and the pension deficit.

2004 reported balance sheet under IFRS GAAP 674.8 (120.0) 554.8

Opening adjustments carried forward under IFRS 74.8 (58.2) 16.6

The difference between the movement in net assets (increase of £16.6m) and the movement in retained profit (increase of £20.0m)
reflects the items booked directly to reserves, principally actuarial experience gains and losses arising on pension schemes.

December 2004 closing 
balance sheet impact

notes to the financial statements

29. IFRS reconciliation (continued)
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UK GAAP* IFRS
31 December 2004 31 December 2004

£m £m

Assets
Intangible assets 306.3 333.4 
Property, plant and equipment 279.7 279.7
Deferred tax assets 14.0 61.7

Total non-current assets 600.0 674.8

Inventories 248.1 248.1
Trade and other receivables 295.4 305.6
Current tax 8.6 8.6
Investments 8.0 8.0
Cash and cash equivalents 120.7 120.7

Total current assets 680.8 691.0

Total assets 1,280.8 1,365.8

Liabilities
Bank overdraft (5.3) (5.3)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (55.2) (55.2)
Exceptional payables - European Commission fine (31.3) (31.3)
Current tax (31.4) (31.4)
Trade and other payables (360.8) (331.5)

Total current liabilities (484.0) (454.7)

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (129.2) (135.9)
Employee benefits (33.9) (142.4)
Provisions (41.3) (41.3)
Deferred tax liabilities (25.8) (8.3)
Other payables (28.4) (28.4)

Total non-current liabilities (258.6) (356.3)

Total liabilities (742.6) (811.0)

Net assets 538.2 554.8

Equity
Issued capital 88.7 88.7 
Share premium 139.9 139.9
Other reserves 2.6 (0.6)
Retained earnings 303.0 322.8

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders 
of the parent 534.2 550.8

Minority interest 4.0 4.0

Total equity 538.2 554.8

*UK GAAP figures presented under IFRS disclosure.

notes to the financial statements

29. IFRS reconciliation 
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Non-
current Net

assets Other assets
£m £m £m

January 2004 opening balance sheet under UK GAAP 630.8 (87.8) 543.0

IFRS2 Share-based Payment Tax relating to expensing of employee 0.2 0.2 
share options over period between 
grant and vesting.

IAS19 Employee Benefits Recognition of pension deficits (76.7) (76.7)
less associated deferred tax.

IAS32/39 Financial Instruments Movements arising from recording (1.2) (1.2)
financial instruments and derivatives 
at fair value.

IAS10 Events After the Proposed final dividend no longer 33.6 33.6
Balance Sheet Date being recognised.

IAS38 Intangible Assets Capitalisation of certain   6.9 (2.5) 4.4
development costs.

IAS12 Income Tax Classification of deferred tax assets, 43.2 (8.0) 35.2
including additional deferred tax assets 
on goodwill and the pension deficit.

January 2004 opening balance sheet under IFRS 680.9 (142.4) 538.5

Opening adjustments carried forward under IFRS 50.1 (54.6) (4.5)

29. IFRS reconciliation (continued)

January 2004 opening 
balance sheet impact

notes to the financial statements
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29. IFRS reconciliation 

UK GAAP* IFRS
1 January 2004 1 January 2004

£m £m

Assets
Intangible assets 317.9 324.8 
Property, plant and equipment 292.6 292.6
Deferred tax assets 20.3 63.5

Total non-current assets 630.8 680.9

Inventories 243.3 243.3
Trade and other receivables 295.7 301.6
Current tax 8.6 8.6
Investments 8.2 8.2
Cash and cash equivalents 81.3 81.3

Total current assets 637.1 643.0

Total assets 1,267.9 1,323.9

Liabilities
Bank overdraft (14.4) (14.4)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (62.3) (62.3)
Current tax (31.5) (31.5)
Trade and other payables (348.0) (307.0)

Total current liabilities (456.2) (415.2)

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (140.9) (149.0)
Employee benefits (31.0) (146.8)
Provisions (37.1) (37.1)
Deferred tax liabilities (28.3) (5.9)
Other payables (31.4) (31.4)

Total non-current liabilities (268.7) (370.2)

Total liabilities (724.9) (785.4)

Net assets 543.0 538.5

Equity
Issued capital 88.3 88.3 
Share premium 136.5 136.5
Other reserves 2.6 1.6
Retained earnings 312.0 308.5

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders 
of the parent 539.4 534.9

Minority interest 3.6 3.6

Total equity 543.0 538.5

*UK GAAP figures presented under IFRS disclosure.

notes to the financial statements
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company balance sheet
At 31 December 2005

2005 2004
as restated

Note £m £m

Fixed assets
Investments C5 798.3 725.7

Current assets
Debtors C6 19.1 90.9
Cash at bank and in hand 84.0 4.7

103.1 95.6

Creditors:
amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings C7 (48.5) (48.6)
Other creditors C8 (7.6) (44.8)

(56.1) (93.4)

Net current assets 47.0 2.2

Total assets less current liabilities 845.3 727.9

Creditors:
amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowings C7 (89.5) (82.2)
Other creditors C9 (328.0) (91.8)

(417.5) (174.0)

Net assets 427.8 553.9

Capital and reserves C10
Called up share capital 89.6 88.7
Share premium account 149.4 139.9
Capital redemption reserve 1.6 1.6
Profit and loss account 187.2 323.7

Equity shareholders’ funds 427.8 553.9

Approved by the Board of Directors on 6 March 2006 and signed on its behalf by:

Norman B M Askew Chairman
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for the year ended 31 December 2005

2005 2004
as restated

£m £m

Shareholders’ equity at start of period as reported 553.9 517.3
Impact of adoption of FRS20 (see note C10) - 0.2
Impact of adoption of FRS21 (see note C10) - 33.6
Impact of adoption of FRS25 (see note C10) - (1.5)

Shareholders’ equity at start of period - restated 553.9 549.6

(Loss)/profit for the period (7.9) 54.7

Dividends paid (59.4) (55.9)
Share based payments (net of deferred tax) 3.4 1.7
Issue of ordinary shares net of costs 10.4 3.8
Purchase of own shares into treasury (72.6) -

(118.2) (50.4)

Shareholders’ equity at end of period 427.8 553.9

company statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

C1. Significant accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the financial
statements, except as noted below.

In these financial statements the following new standards have been adopted for the first time:

� FRS20 ‘Share-based payments’;

� FRS21 ‘Events after the balance sheet date’;

� FRS25 ‘Financial instruments: presentation and disclosure’; and

� FRS26 ‘Financial instruments: measurement’.

The accounting policies under these new standards are set out below. The effects of adopting these new standards are set out in note C10.

The corresponding amounts in these financial statements are restated in accordance with the new policies.

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable UK accounting
standards.

The Company has not presented a separate profit and loss account as permitted by Section 230 (4) of the Companies Act 1985.

Under Financial Reporting Standard 1, the Company is exempt from the requirement to prepare a cash flow statement on the grounds that
the Company is included in its own published consolidated financial statements.

The Company  has taken advantage of the exemptions contained in FRS8 ‘Related party disclosures’ and has not disclosed transactions or
balances with entities which form part of the Group.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies have been translated into Sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date and the gains or losses on translation included in the profit and loss account.

Taxation

Except where otherwise required by accounting standards, full provision without discounting is made for the tax on all timing differences
which have arisen but not reversed at the balance sheet date.

company notes to the financial statements
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C1. Basis of accounting (continued)

Pensions and post-retirement benefits

The Group operates a number of pension plans throughout the world which cover the majority of group employees. With certain exceptions
referred to in the notes relating to the financial statements the funds of the plans are administered by Trustees and are separate from the
Group. Valuations are normally carried out every three years by independent actuaries and annual contributions are paid to the plans in
accordance with their recommendations.

The amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated so as to spread the cost of
pensions over the average remaining service life of the employees in accordance with the advice of qualified actuaries. The amount charged
in respect of defined contribution plans is in accordance with the rules of the plans.

The Company participates in a pension scheme providing benefits based on final pensionable pay. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the company. The Company is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on 
a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS17 ‘Retirement benefits’; accounts for the scheme as if it were a defined
contribution scheme. As a result, the amount charged to the profit and loss account represents the contribution payable to the scheme in
respect of the accounting period.

Financial instruments

To qualify as a hedge, a financial instrument must be related to actual foreign currency assets or liabilities or to a probable commitment.
It must involve the same currency or similar currencies as the hedged item and must also reduce the risk of foreign currency exchange
movements on the Group’s operations. Gains and losses arising on these contracts are deferred and recognised in the profit and loss account,
or as adjustments to the carrying amount of fixed assets, only when the hedged transaction has itself been reflected in the Group’s accounts.

If an instrument ceases to be accounted for as a hedge, for example because the underlying hedged position is eliminated, the instrument is
marked to market and any resulting profit or loss recognised at that time.

Equity and equity-related compensation benefits

The Company operates an Executive Share Option Scheme, a SAYE Share Option Scheme and a Performance Share Plan. For options granted
on or after 7 November 2002, the fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an
expense each year. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting
conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. The fair value of the options 
is determined based on the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

At each balance sheet date, the Company revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable.
It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the income statement, and a corresponding adjustment to equity 
over the remaining vesting period.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium when
the options are exercised.

Dividends or shares presented within shareholders’ funds

Dividends unpaid at the balance sheet date are only recognised as a liability at that date to the extent that they are appropriately authorised
and are no longer at the discretion of the Company. Unpaid dividends that do not meet these criteria are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

C2. Remuneration of directors

The detailed information concerning directors’ emoluments, shareholdings and options are shown in the Remuneration Report on pages 
38 to 46.

All directors of the Company are also directors of the Group.

C3. Staff numbers and costs

With the exception of the directors, the number of people employed by the Company during the year was nil (2004: nil).
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C4. Dividends

The aggregate amount of dividends comprises:

2005 2004
£m £m 

Final dividends paid in respect of prior year but not recognised
as liabilities in that year 36.2 33.6

Interim dividends paid in respect of the current year 23.2 22.3

Aggregate amount of dividends paid in the financial year 59.4 55.9

C5. Fixed assets - investments

Shares Loans Total
£m £m £m

At 31 December 2004 at cost and net book value 54.6 671.1 725.7
Advances during year - 72.6 72.6

At 31 December 2005 at cost and net book value 54.6 743.7 798.3

Details of subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2005 are shown on pages 94 and 95.

The Company's cost of investment in subsidiary undertakings is stated at the aggregate of (a) the cash consideration, (b) the nominal value of
the shares issued as consideration within section 131 of the Companies Act 1985 applies and (c) in all other cases the market value of the
Company's shares on the date they were issued as consideration.

Subsidiary undertakings

C6. Debtors

2005 2004
as restated

£m £m 

Falling due for payment within one year:
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 0.6 80.6
Other debtors 1.5 -
Prepayments and accrued income 0.3 0.3
Corporation tax 9.0 -
Deferred tax 3.0 3.5
Other financial assets 4.7 6.5

19.1 90.9
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C8. Other creditors falling due within one year

2005 2004
as restated

£m £m

UK corporation tax - 2.5
Other taxation 0.2 0.2
Other payables 0.5 0.4
Accruals and deferred income 3.7 2.1
European Commission enquiry fine - 31.3
Other financial liabilities 3.2 8.3

7.6 44.8

C9. Other creditors falling due after one year

2005 2004
£m £m

Amounts owed to other group companies 328.0 91.8

C7. Borrowings

The note provides information about the contractual terms of the Company's interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more information
about the Company's exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, see note 19 of the Group financial statements.

2005 2004
as restated

£m £m 

Due within one year
Unsecured UK Loan Notes 2006-2007 41.7 48.3
Unsecured overdrafts 6.8 0.3

48.5 48.6

Due outside one year
Unsecured US Loan Notes 2009-2014 30.3 28.1
Unsecured overdrafts 59.2 54.1

89.5 82.2

Terms and debt repayment schedule
2005 2004

as restated
£m £m 

Debt can be analysed as falling due:
In one year or less, or on demand 48.5 48.6
Between one and two years - -
Between two and three years - -
Between three and four years 68.7 -
Between four and five years - 63.1
In five years or more 20.8 19.1

138.0 130.8
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C11.Contingencies

The European Commission is investigating allegations of anti-competitive behaviour among certain manufacturers of copper fittings. Notwithstanding
IMI's disposal of its Copper Fittings businesses in 2002, it retains responsibility in relation to the European Commission's investigations in respect of those
businesses. A Statement of Objections was issued by the Commission in September 2005. It is not possible to give any reliable estimate of the likely
level of fine,a decision on which is not expected until 2006.

Group contingent liabilities relating to guarantees in the normal course of business and other items amounted to £45.5m (2004:£41.2m).

There is a right of set-off with four of the Company's bankers relating to the balances of the Company and a number of its wholly-owned UK
subsidiaries.

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies within its group,the Company
considers these to be insurance arrangements,and accounts for them as such. In this respect, the Company treats the guarantee contract as a
contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.

The Company does not expect the amendments to have any impact on the financial statements for the period commencing 1 January 2006.

C12.Acquisitions
On 6 March 2006 the Company acquired the whole share capital of Truflo Group for an enterprise value of £113m.

C10. Share capital and reserves
Share Capital Total

Share premium redemption Retained parent
capital account reserve earnings equity

£m £m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2003 as previously reported 88.3 136.5 1.6 290.9 517.3
Impact of adoption of FRS20 0.2 0.2
Impact of adoption of FRS21 33.6 33.6
Impact of adoption of FRS25 (1.5) (1.5)
Retained profit of the year 54.7 54.7
Issued in the period 0.4 3.4 3.8
Dividends paid (55.9) (55.9)
Share based payments (net of deferred tax) 1.7 1.7

At 31 December 2004 88.7 139.9 1.6 323.7 553.9

Retained loss for the year (7.9) (7.9)
Issued in the period 0.9 9.5 10.4
Dividends paid (59.4) (59.4)
Share based payments (net of deferred tax) 3.4 3.4
Treasury shares (72.6) (72.6)

At 31 December 2005 89.6 149.4 1.6 187.2 427.8

The impact of adoption of FRS20: ‘Accounting for share-based payment’ at 1 January 2004 reflects the 2003 cost of share options granted since
November 2002 net of deferred tax. Under FRS21: ‘Events after the balance sheet date’, dividends are not reflected in the financial statements
until approved by shareholders. Shareholders’ equity at 1 January 2004 has therefore been adjusted, for the 2003 final dividend which had not
been approved at that date. The impact of FRS25: ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’, reflects the adjustment to fair value at the 
1 January 2004 balance sheet date of certain financial instruments.

Share capital
2005 2004

£m £m 

Authorised
480m (2004: 480m) ordinary shares of 25p each 120.0 120.0
Issued and fully paid 
358.6m (2004: 354.8m) ordinary shares of 25p each 89.6 88.7

During the year 3,825,347 shares were issued under employee share schemes realising £10.4m.
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The following is a list of the Company's subsidiary undertakings, except for some intermediate
holding companies and certain other undertakings of minor importance which are excluded by
virtue of sub-Section 231(5) of the Companies Act 1985. Except where indicated, the undertakings
are subsidiaries incorporated in Great Britain and the share capital consists of ordinary shares only.
The principal country in which each subsidiary operates is the country of incorporation. The
Company's effective interest in the undertakings listed is 100%, except where indicated, and is held
in each case by a subsidiary undertaking, except for those marked + in which case it is held directly
by the Company.

Aero Dynamiek BV Holland

Asterm SAS France

CCI AG Switzerland

CCI KK Japan

CCI Limited  Korea  

CCI Valve Technology AB Sweden

CCI Valve Technology GesmbH Austria

Commtech Ltd

Control Components Inc USA

Eley Ltd

EVU Energi & VVS Utveckling AB Sweden

FAS AG  Switzerland

FAS GmbH  Germany

FAS Medic SA   Switzerland

FAS Sarl France

FAS SrI  Italy

FAS Medic SA   Switzerland

FAS Technologies SA  Switzerland

Flow Design Inc USA

Fluid Automation Systems SA   Switzerland

GT Development Corporation USA

Herion Fluidtronik Corporation Ltd China

Herion Systemtechnik GmbH Germany

IMI Components Ltd

IMI Indoor Climate Trading (Shanghai) 

Co Ltd  China

IMI International Kft Hungary

IMI International sro The Czech Republic

IMI International sp zoo Poland

IMI Norgren A/S Denmark

IMI Norgren Buschjost GmbH & Co KG

Germany (90%)

IMI Norgren Herion Pvt Ltd India

IMI Norgren Ltd

IMI Norgren Ltd Canada

IMI Norgren Oy Finland

IMI Norgren Pneumatics

(Shanghai) Co Ltd China

IMI Norgren SA Spain

IMI Norgren Terracco SA Spain

IMI Scott Ltd

IMI Watson Smith Ltd

IMI Webber Ltd   

Norgren AB Sweden

Norgren AG Switzerland

Norgren AS Norway

Norgren Automotive GmbH Germany

Norgren Automotive Inc USA

Norgren BV Holland

Norgren European Logistics Company Ltd

Norgren GesmbH Austria

Norgren GmbH Germany

Norgren Inc USA

Norgren Ltd Hong Kong

Norgren Ltd New Zealand

Norgren Ltda Brazil

Norgren Manufacturing de Mexico SA 

de CV Mexico

Norgren NV Belgium

Norgren Pte Ltd Singapore

Norgren Pty Ltd Australia

Norgren SAS France

Norgren Sdn Bhd Malaysia

Norgren SpA Italy

Norgren Sweden AB Sweden

STI srl Italy

Syron Engineering & Manufacturing LLC USA

Theodor Heimeier Metallwerk GmbH   Germany

Tour & Andersson A/S Denmark

Tour & Andersson AB Sweden

Tour & Andersson AS Norway

Tour & Andersson BV Holland

Tour & Andersson GesmbH Austria

Tour & Andersson Hydronics GmbH Germany

Tour & Andersson Hydronics sro The Czech Republic

Tour & Andersson Hydronics sp zoo Poland

Tour & Andersson Ltd

Tour & Andersson Ltda   Brazil

Tour & Andersson NV Belgium

Tour & Andersson Oy Finland

Tour & Andersson Pte Ltd Singapore

Tour & Andersson SA France

Tour & Andersson SA Spain

subsidiary undertakings

Fluid Controls
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+ IMI Kynoch Ltd

IMI Property Investments Ltd

IMI Vision Ltd

Artform International Ltd (92.2%)

Baldwin-Miller Inc   USA

Cannon Equipment Co USA

Cannon Equipment Midwest Inc USA

Cannon Equipment Southeast Inc USA

Cannon Equipment West Inc USA

Creative Identities Ltd

DCI Marketing Europe Ltd

DCI Marketing Inc USA

Display Technologies LLC USA (80.1%)

Display Technology (Europe) Ltd

IMI Bevcore Solutions Inc USA

IMI Cornelius España SA Spain

Corporate

subsidiary undertakings

Retail Dispense  

IMI Cornelius Europe SA Belgium

IMI Cornelius (New Zealand) Ltd

New Zealand   

IMI Cornelius (Pacific) Ltd Hong Kong

IMI Cornelius (Tianjin) Co Ltd China

IMI Cornelius (UK) Ltd

IMI Cornelius Australia Pty Ltd Australia

IMI Cornelius de Mexico SA de CV Mexico

IMI Cornelius Deutschland GmbH Germany 

IMI Cornelius Equipco Inc USA

+ IMI Cornelius Group Ltd

IMI Cornelius Hellas SA Greece

IMI Cornelius Inc USA

IMI Cornelius Italia srl Italy

IMI Cornelius Österreich GesmbH Austria

IMI Cornelius Pte Ltd Singapore

IMI Manufacturing de Mexico SA de CV Mexico

IMI Tijuana Manufacturing de Mexico SA de CV

Mexico

IMI MCR Inc   USA

Infrastructure Inc USA

Melrose Displays Inc 

(Cannon Melrose Displays)   USA

Objex Ltd
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2001 2002 2003 2004 
£m £m £m £m 

UK 488 463 428 447
Germany 196 170 186 194
Rest of Europe 384 369 348 368
USA 414 450 447 431
Asia 79 81 91 107
Rest of World 81 79 73 64

1,642 1,612 1,573 1,611 

2001 2002 2003 2004
£m £m £m £m

Profit and loss account
Sales 1,642 1,612 1,573 1,611

Profit before tax, exceptional 
items, goodwill and
intangible amortisation 81 99 137 155

Goodwill and intangible
amortisation (16) (18) (20) (21)

Exceptional items 21 (7) - (33)

Profit before taxation 86 74 117 101

Group sales by destination

UK GAAP IFRS GAAP

2005 Sales by geographical destination

Sales £m

Profit before tax, exceptional items,
goodwill and intangible amortisation £m

2001 2002 2003 2004

81 99 137 161

1,642 1,612 1,573 1,611

Germany 12%
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2005

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

176

1,578

2004 2005
£m £m

1,611 1,578

161 176

(6) (6)

(33) -

122 170

UK GAAP IFRS GAAP

2004 2005
£m £m

447 351
194 196
368 358
431 466
107 115

64 92

1,611 1,578

UK GAAP IFRS GAAP

UK 22%
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Earnings and dividends
2001 2002 2003 2004

Adjusted earnings per share (as published) 25.7p 28.9p

Adjusted earnings per share (pre restructuring) 26.7p 25.0p 26.8p

Earnings per share 18.3p 15.7p 20.1p 13.4p

Ordinary dividend per share 15.5p 15.5p 15.5p 16.5p

Balance sheet 2001 2002 2003 2004

£m £m £m £m

Net operating assets 616 473 440 433

Goodwill 298 303 318 306

Other non-operating liabilities (excluding borrowings) (76) (72) (79) (132)

Net borrowings (345) (173) (136) (69)

Net assets 493 531 543 538

Statistics 2001 2002 2003 2004

Profit* as a percentage of sales 4.9% 6.1% 8.7% 9.6%

Profit* as a percentage of net assets 16.4% 18.6% 25.2% 28.8%

Net assets per share 140.3p 150.8p 153.7p 151.6p

Net borrowings as a percentage

of shareholders' funds 70.4% 32.9% 25.3% 12.9%

Net debt: EBITDA 1.9 0.9 0.6 0.3

Interest cover* 4 7 14 18

* Before exceptional items and goodwill/intangible amortisation

UK GAAP IFRS GAAP

2004 2005

29.5p 33.4p

19.1p 3.9p

16.5p 17.5p

2004 2005

£m £m

375 412

323 166

(67) (146)

(76) (11)

555 421

2004 2005

10.0% 11.2%

29.0% 41.8%

156.4p 117.4p

13.7% 2.5%

0.3 -

18 22
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Announcement of trading results
The trading results for the Group for the first half of 2006 will be announced on 4 September 2006.

The trading results for the full year ending 31 December 2006 will be announced in March 2007.

Trading updates are also issued around the mid-year and in December.

Dividend payments
Dividends on ordinary shares are normally paid as follows:

Interim: mid October
Final: mid May

Share prices and capital gains tax
The closing price of the Company’s Ordinary Shares on the London Stock Exchange on 30 December 2005 was 503.0p 
per share compared with 393.75p per share on 31 December 2004.

The market value of the Company’s Ordinary Shares on 31 March 1982, as calculated for capital gains tax purposes,
was 53.5p per share.

The Company’s SEAQ number is 51443.

Enquiries about shareholdings
For enquiries concerning shareholders' personal holdings please contact the Company's registrar:
Lloyds TSB Registrars, The Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 6DA (telephone: 0870 600 3953).

Corporate Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs)
By arrangement with Lloyds TSB Registrars, an IMI single company ISA is now being operated. A brochure, application form and further
information can be obtained by contacting the Lloyds TSB Registrars ISA Helpline on 0870 24 24 244.

Share Dealing Service
Managed by JPMorgan Cazenove, the Company's stockbrokers, the IMI plc Share Dealing Service provides shareholders with a simple way
of buying and selling IMI ordinary shares. Full written details can be obtained from Secretary’s Department, IMI plc, Lakeside, Solihull
Parkway, Birmingham Business Park, Birmingham, B37 7XZ (telephone: 0121 717 3700).

Ordinary shareholders

Range: Number of Balance as at
Holdings % 31 December 2005 %

1-500 shares 6,226 29.45 1,764,800 0.52
501-1,000 shares 5,877 27.79 4,330,976 1.27
1,001-10,000 shares 8,206 38.81 19,218,292 5.63
10,001-100,000 shares 517 2.46 17,003,287 4.98
100,001-Highest 316 1.49 299,183,792 87.60

Total 21,142 100.00 341,501,147 100.00
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Headquarters and registered office

Lakeside

Solihull Parkway

Birmingham Business Park

Birmingham  

B37 7XZ

Telephone: 0121 717 3700

Website address

www.imiplc.com

Secretary

John O'Shea

Registrars

Lloyds TSB Registrars

The Causeway

Worthing 

West Sussex 

DN99 6DA

Telephone: 0870 600 3953

Solicitors

Pinsent Masons

3 Colmore Circus

Birmingham  

B4 6BH

Allen & Overy LLP

One New Change

London  

EC4M 9QQ

Stockbrokers

JPMorgan Cazenove

20 Moorgate

London  

EC2R 6DA

Citigroup

33 Canada Square

Canary Wharf

London  

E14 5LB

Auditor

KPMG Audit Plc

2 Cornwall Street

Birmingham  

B3 2DL

IMI plc is registered in England 

No.714275

The paper used in the production of this report is sourced from sustainable forests, consists of up to 50% recycled fibre, is

recyclable, biodegradable and is elemental chlorine-free.

Designed and produced by Design Principles CV35 0HP. Printed by GoodmanBaylis WR5 2JH.
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Geographic distribution of employees

United Kingdom 2,738

Continental Europe 5,037

Americas 5,326

Asia Pacific 908

Others 68

Total 14,077

100 

control critical 
processes . . .

create competitive
advantage in motion 
and fluid control. . .

perfect 
indoor climate . . .

five strong businesses with a 
14,000 employees worldwide,
knowledge-based solutions 
IMI delivers value around 



IMI’s polices relating to employee involvement and

development are set out in the Directors’ report on page 32.

Policies relating to health, safety and the environment are

described on pages 26 and 32.

£1.3 billion turnover and 
providing innovative 
for market leading customers
the world by helping to . . .

pioneer beverage 
dispense solutions . . .

and drive impulse
purchase.
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